From: Casey Coss.

Sent: Tuesday, 28 March 2023 8:43 AM

To: Legal Affairs and Safety Committee

Subject: Property Law Bill 2023 - REIQ Questions on notice

Attachments: draft-body-corporate-certificate-bccm-act.pdf; draft-disclosure-statement.pdf;

230310 REIQ Submission - Property Law Bill 2023.pdf; eConveyancing mandate
(Land Title Regulation 2022) — upcoming practice changes; PEXA Annual Report
2022.pdf; FW: Hi, important update on e-conveyancing mandate!

Importance: High

Dear Committee,

Thank you again for the opportunity to appear before you last week to discuss important matters pertaining to the
Property Law Bill 2023.

As requested, we have compiled the following and attached information to assist the Committee.
Outstanding Matters

We strongly recommend the following matters be given further consideration. We attach a copy of our most recent
Submission for your reference.

e The prescriptive requirements for providing disclosure documents at auction (which varies depending on
whether the auction has commenced) and how the average person will be able to understand obligations
and comply with same in such environment. Please see pages 8, 9 and 10 of our Submission for our detailed
position;

e The regressive reintroduction of Community Management Statement (CMS) disclosure when selling lots in a
Community Titles Scheme. Please see pages 12 and 13 of our Submission for our detailed position;

e The current approved form of seller’s disclosure statement and body corporate certificate being
unnecessarily complex with potentially irrelevant information and ultimately not fit for its purpose;

e The impractical and futile requirement for a seller to disclose unregistered statutory encumbrances (such as
telecommunications, gas, waters services, sewerage etc). Please see page 14 for our position;

e A buyer’s ability to terminate without having to prove it has been materially impacted by any error or
omission. Please see pages 10 and 11 of our Submission for our detailed position; and

e The lack of infrastructure available for the broader community to comply with disclosure requirements,
particularly those living in regional or remote locations across Queensland. Please see pages 15 and 16 of
our Submission for our detailed position.

Body Corporate Certificate
We attach a copy of the last public versions of the draft approved forms (August 2022), including the body corporate
certificate. We direct your attention to pages 10 and 11, which require the disclosure of any engagement of a body

corporate manager, including the term of engagement, service contractors or authorised letting agents.

e-Conveyancing Information



Upon review, we confirm we sent a direct marketing email to our members on 20 January 2023 notifying of the e-
conveyancing mandate and update to the REIQ and QLS contracts which occurred concurrently in preparation for
the mandate coming into effect 20 February 2023. Although we did not release an article to our membership, we
directed them to the Titles Office webpage containing detail of the mandate.

A copy of our direct marketing email is attached, as well as a copy of the Titles Queensland email notification which
may provide more helpful information about the mandate including a link to the webpage.

We also attach the PEXA Annual Report from 2022 which contains the data we spoke about, in relation to the uptake
of eConveyancing in Queensland and other States. You can find this information on page 12 of the Report.

Transcript
We have reviewed the Transcript and confirm we do not require any changes.
If we can be of further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact our office.

Kind Regards,
Casey Cossu
Legal and Policy Officer

T:
REIQ.COM
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The contents of this message are the views of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of The Real Estate Institute of Queensland Limited (REIQ)
- ABN 49 009 661 287. The content of this email, including attachments is a confidential communication between the REIQ and the intended addressee.
Any unauthorised use of the contents is expressly prohibited. If you have received this email in error please contact the sender immediately and then
delete the message and any attachment(s). The intended recipient of this email may only use, reproduce, disclose or distribute the information contained
in this email and any attached files with the REIQ’s permission. If you are not the intended addressee, you are strictly prohibited from using, reproducing,
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10 March 2023

Committee Secretary

Legal Affairs and Safety Committee
Parliament House

George Street

Brisbane QLD 4170

By Email: lasc@parliament.gld.gov.au

Dear Committee,

RE: PROPERTY LAW BILL 2023, PROPERTY LAW REGULATION 2023 & BODY CORPORATE AND
COMMUNITY MANAGEMENT AND OTHER LEGISLATION AMENDMENT REGULATION 2023

The Real Estate Institute of Queensland (REIQ) welcomes the opportunity to provide further feedback in
relation to the Property Law Bill 2023 (Bill), Property Law Regulation 2023 (Regulation) and Body Corporate
and Community Management Amendment Bill 2023 (Amendment Bill).

We note the REIQ has actively participated in consultation of the Bill, Regulation and Amendment Bill over
the past eight months, including providing six Submissions to the Property Law Act Review Team (PLA
Review Team), meeting with and discussing by correspondence, various sections of the Bill with the PLA
Review Team.

In this regard, we commend the PLA Review Team for giving stakeholders the opportunity to provide
extensive feedback with thorough consideration given, and recommendations adopted throughout the
development of the Bill. As we have noted throughout the consultation period, the REIQ commends the
Department and the State Government in progressing the re-write of the Property Law Act 1974 (PLA).

That said, we do have concerns with the Bill being introduced into Parliament by the Attorney-General and
Minister for Justice, Minister for Women and Minister for the Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence
on 23 February 2023. Although we understand the time constraints and finite sitting times remaining in
the current term of Government, we are disappointed that the Bill was prematurely introduced while
discussions in relation to material matters were being worked through, up to the days preceding
23 February 2023.

The importance and complexity of rewriting the PLA arises from the foundational significance to our society
and the broader economy of the PLA in establishing property rights and the ‘rule of law’ relating to property
and other legal and contractual rights more broadly (such as the provisions relating to Deeds and
Covenants).

The REIQ therefore urges that all due time and resources are dedicated by the Government to ensuring
that thorough consultation is completed, all feedback and suggestions or concerns received are thoroughly
reviewed, and all potential legislative impacts of any changes from the existing PLA are fully considered
and understood prior to enactment of the Bill.



The REIQ and our role for Real Estate Professionals and Real Property Investors

The REIQ is the peak body representing real estate professionals across Queensland. As the State’s most
trusted and influential advocate for real estate business interests and private property investor rights for
more than 104 years, the REIQ remains committed to ensuring the highest levels of professionalism and
good governance are achieved through regulatory compliance and the advancement of best practice
standards of professional conduct.

The REIQ’s enduring purpose is to lead a sustainable industry which continues to make significant
contributions to the Queensland economy and to strengthen conditions for those working within the
industry. Above all, the peak body aims to:

*  make important contributions to government legislation and policy settings;
»  advocate for balanced regulations for the benefit of all stakeholders;

«  provide industry-leading training for real estate professionals;

»  deliver timely, innovative and market-driven education programs;

»  promote risk management and increase professional competence;

« implement effective and compliant professional standards; and

»  contribute to substantial industry research and development.

The REIQ Membership and customer base representation includes over 30,000 property professionals. This
includes principal licensees, salespeople, property managers, auctioneers, business brokers, buyers’ agents,
residential complex managers, and commercial and industrial agents in Queensland.

Collectively, Queensland’s real estate sector directly employs over 46,000 people (the State’s second largest
employer), is one of the top four industries which comprises over 50% of Queensland’s small business
landscape and pays the second highest amount of State tax each year (2018/19: $20 billion).

The REIQ's vision statement, for the real estate profession, extends our support and expertise beyond our
membership to the broader real estate profession and community. We believe everyone should be able to
make educated, informed decisions about buying, selling or renting property and business in Queensland.

Our Submission

The REIQ is generally supportive of the desire to modernise and clarify language, and to use an updated
legislative style in the Bill as a comprehensive re-write of the existing PLA.

However, as outlined in this paper, there are a number of areas of concern we wish to highlight, to which
we have provided recommendations for further consideration or amendments.

Given the limited opportunity to further change the Bill, we hope the Committee will appreciate the gravity
under which our comments are made. As we have seen over the past three years, the real estate sector is
a key driver of our economy and material changes to the operation and stability of the sector will have far-
reaching implications.

Please note that due to limited time and resources, we have elected to focus on those Parts of the Bill
considered of most impact upon our members and their areas of operation, and of greatest importance to
the property sector generally.



The absence of our detailed comments on other Parts of the Bill should not be taken as endorsement of
those Parts, but rather a focus on our part, and an election to leave detailed comments to other
stakeholders who may be better placed to provide input on those provisions.

Furthermore, in this Submission we have not provided further comment for matters of which have been
settled or addressed through prior consultation with the PLA Review Team and Department.

Further Consultation or Meetings

The REIQ confirms that we are happy to participate in further consultation and/or attend any meetings that
may be convened to discuss the whole or relevant Parts of the Bill. We confirm that no aspect of this
Submission is private and therefore consent to public disclosure of its contents.

If you have any queries in respect of our submission or any of the matters or issues we have raised, please
do not hesitate to contact Katrina Beavon, General Counsel on _ or via email

Yours Sincerely

Antonia Mercorella
Chief Executive Officer









76 - Implied conditions The REIQ is of the view that it is no longer appropriate to continue
providing the default place of settlement as the nearest office of the land
registry (especially in light of the fact that some regional Titles Registry
offices have closed).

The REIQ also notes that in practice it is rare for a physical settlement to
occur at a land registry office. The REIQ submits that for ‘paper’ / non-
electronic settlements, it may be appropriate to provide for the ‘first’
default venue for settlement if not otherwise agreed, to be the office of
the solicitor or conveyancer appointed by the seller if there is one, or the
office of the first mortgagee if there is one, and then otherwise the publicly
available office of the titles registry nearest to the land as the ‘final default'.

77 - Restoration of We are generally supportive of the redrafting of this provision and
property addition of subsections (3) and (4).

We agree with the description of “dwelling house” being amended to
“residential dwelling” in this section for the purpose of modernisation
and clarity. We agree with the Recommendation 69 from QUT Property
Law Review that this provision should not be extended to contracts for
sale of commercial properties.

78 - When day of We support the retention of this provision and its application to
settlement is next e-conveyancing / electronic settlements, as previously recommended.
business day

ss 79, 80 - Effect of We are pleased with the redrafting of s79 and addition of s80, in alignment
inoperative computers with our previous recommendation to the PLA Review Team to capture

inoperability in other contexts than the land registry, which may delay or
prevent settlement or compliance with contract conditions. We support
this provision being limited to inoperative computers of the entities listed
in s80(1)(c) only.

Additionally, we are pleased that s79(5) allows settlement to reset after 3
business days, which we consider is a reasonable time.

81- Adverse effect on As noted above, we support the introduction of this section in the Bill.
settlement These provisions closely align with the current contractual requirements
under the REIQ standard contracts.

If the Committee would like our position on, and/or reasons for support of, any of the other provisions of
Part 7 not mentioned above, we would be pleased to provide a copy of our prior Submissions for the
Committee’s consideration.



3. SELLER DISCLOSURE REGIME - PART 7 DIV 4

The REIQ has advocated for the introduction of a seller's disclosure regime for a number of years, on the
basis that such a regime enhances, without inhibiting, the unique property landscape we have in
Queensland.

To this end, the REIQ has participated in extensive consultation with the PLA Review Team in relation to
this regime, given the significant implications its enactment will have on the real estate industry.

As a key objective of the regime, we consider it essential to balance the level of information provided to
the buyer within the seller's own knowledge, with the time and financial cost of obtaining such information
to ensure the property sector is not burdened and contracts can continue to be practically and efficiently
facilitated.

We strongly support the four guiding principles of the regime:

¢ Information provided should be within the seller's knowledge and/or readily available by search
at reasonable cost to the seller;

¢ Information should be of value to the buyer in making their decision to purchase a property;

¢ Information should be in an accessible form, easily understood and capable of being relied on by
the buyer; and

e Asingle legal framework should provide consistency in the content and timing of disclosure and
remedies available for a failure to comply.

Although we acknowledge the PLA Review Team has undertaken extensive consultation on these
provisions and have adopted many of the changes recommended by the REIQ, we still have concerns
regarding a number of the provisions in Part 7 Division 4 of the Bill, the Regulation, Amendment Bill and
prescribed certificates.

The REIQ is primarily concerned with:
e the prescriptive requirements for providing disclosure documents at auction (which varies
depending on whether the auction has commenced) and how the average person will be able to

understand obligations and comply with same in such environment;

e the regressive reintroduction of Community Management Statement (CMS) disclosure when
selling lots in a Community Titles Scheme;

e the current form of seller's disclosure statement and body corporate certificate being unnecessarily
complex with potentially irrelevant information and ultimately not fit for its purpose;

e abuyer's ability to terminate without having to prove it has been materially impacted by any error
or omission; and






The REIQ Auctioneers Committee felt very strongly that these provisions are
unnecessarily complex and onerous.

Comparisons were drawn of the procedures in other States which are less
onerous. For example, in South Australia the equivalent document must be
made available at the office of the agent at least 3 business days before the
auction and at least 30 minutes before the auction at the place where the auction
takes place. Similarly, in New South Wales a written acknowledgement can be
taken from the buyer confirming they received the disclosure statement with the
burden of proof sitting with the buyer.

The REIQ Auctioneers Committee strongly expressed that the processes under
s101 and s103, with respect to giving a disclosure statement at auction, should
be simplified and rights between the seller and buyer should be more balanced.

The proposed provisions place the onus on the seller to prove they provided the
buyer with the disclosure statement and it will not be sufficient for the buyer to
sign an acknowledgement to the effect that they have received the disclosure
documents prior to entering into the contract. The REIQ maintains that in order
to balance the rights of the buyer and seller, a provision should be inserted,
requiring a signed statement from the buyer of a lot confirming receipt of the
disclosure statement should satisfy the requirements under the Bill.

If a person is going to attend an auction to purchase, even if they register after
the start of the auction, they should be treated as a competent buyer that has
consciously made the decision to purchase on this basis, even if it means having
less time to access information. Generally, properties purchased at auction are
purchased on an unconditional basis with no statutory cooling-off rights.
Accordingly, the creation of a separate process for giving a person disclosure
documents if they register after the commencement of an auction is
unnecessary and futile for the purpose of consumer protection principles.

In our view, the proposed drafting overcomplicates the matter, particularly
where additional physical and electronic “communications” are required to
provide the disclosure statement in lieu of simply providing the disclosure
statement. It is our view that a simpler approach will provide the greater benefit
to both parties, in keeping with the objective of the regime.

Another consideration is how these provisions operate if a third party or buyer’s
agent is authorised to attend an auction and bid on behalf of the bidder (or if
the bidder is bidding by telephone).

We appreciate the difficulty in settling a position where one approach may not
suit every circumstance. For this reason, a simpler approach may offer a broader
application in practice.




In summary, there should be no distinction between parties who register before
or during the auction (physical or electronic). If a specific time of giving should
be identified, then it should be at the time of registration. That is, a seller is taken
to have given the buyer the disclosure documents if at the time of registration,
they had the statement available by way of an approved method.

We recommend the following methods for ‘giving’ disclosure statements where
a property is sold at auction:

. having a copy on display for at least 30 minutes before the auction
commences (or available in electronic format where auction is conducted
online)

. having a copy available at the seller's agent's office (or if there is no

physical office, electronic delivery may requested) at least 3 days before
to the auction;
. electronic/physical delivery in accordance with s231 of the Bill.

The recommended approach is generally consistent with s103. In limited
circumstances where a purchaser decides to bid after an auction has
commenced, the potential buyer will have limited time and realistically,
insufficient time to review the disclosures in any event.

We agree that parts of the proposed ss 101, 102 and 103 should be retained,
such as:

. the definition of ‘link’;
. that the link must be live when given to the buyer; and
. that the seller satisfies the disclosure requirement whether the buyer

uses the link or not.

We expect these provisions will be a source of dispute where it is not understood
if a party has complied with a requirement.

On the basis of the current drafting and anticipated impact to the auction sector,
we do not support these provisions. We recommend the amendments outlined
above.

104 - Termination

Although the REIQ supports a provision which sets out the basis upon which a
buyer may terminate a contract, we request that section 104(b)(iii) be expanded
to transfer the onus on the Buyer to prove that they are materially prejudiced by
the error or omission.

We propose that Section 104(2)(b) be amended as follows:

(it) at the time the contract is signed by the buyer, the buyer is not aware of the
correct state of affairs concerning the matter under this subsection;

(iii) if the buyer had been aware of the correct state of affairs concerning the
matter, the buyer would not have signed the contract and would be materially
prejudiced if required to complete the contract.




Once this regime is enacted, this provision will form the basis for a party to
terminate a contract. Given its significance, it is critical that the drafting of this
provision is improved and clarified.

We further recommend, that the time for the buyer to exercise this termination
right be reconsidered to promote a greater balance between the rights of the
buyer and seller.

Currently the buyer may exercise this right any time before settlement. Instead,
we recommend the termination right be limited within a specified time frame
after a contract is entered by the buyer. It is likely that any inaccuracy in a
statement or certificate would come to the attention of the buyer in the early
stages of the contract when usual due diligence occurs.

By ensuring any rightful termination under these grounds occurs earlier, this will
provide certainty to the parties that the contract will indeed settle and save both
parties time and expenditure in preparing for the settlement of the contract.

In considering the appropriate time frame, we suggest the length of the contract
should be taken into consideration. A contract for 60 or more days for example,
may attract a specified time limit for termination. We suggest further
consultation be undertaken on this point. Such limitation appropriately balances
the rights of the buyer and seller and, also gives the seller certainty that the
buyer may not try to rely on this section to terminate a contract after it becomes
unconditional, in the event that the buyer is unable to complete a contract.

We consider this to be reasonable, particularly for longer term contracts (60 days
or more). Under the current provisions, although a buyer would need to argue
that they would not have proceeded with the contract if they had been aware of
a minor technical omission, this requirement may be arguable in most
circumstances as is subjective to the circumstances of the buyer and may lead
to an unnecessary increase in disputes and potentially, litigation.

106 — No other
remedy is
prescribed
certificate contains
inaccurate
information given
by statutory body or
body corporate

The REIQ is supportive of this provision being an important protection for the
seller in the event the seller is provided with inaccurate information by a body
corporate or statutory authority.

Property Law
Regulation 2023

We are generally supportive of the ‘prescribed certificates’ and ‘prescribed
information’ provisions being set out in the Regulation.




s 4 - prescribed
certificates

Briefly, the certificates prescribed for sale of a lot include:

. a title search;

o a survey plan;

o a copy of a QBCC s47 notice regarding unlicensed building work;

o a show cause notice/enforcement notice under ss167, 168 of the

Planning Act 2016 or ss 246AG, 247 or 248 of the Building Act 1975
that is in effect;

) a notice by a competent authority requiring work to be done or
money spent in relation to lot in effect;
) a copy of any document given to seller in relation to transport

infrastructure proposal, notice of resumption or heritage listing
concerning the property;

. if there is a pool either the compliance certificate or form 36 Notice
of No Pool Safety Certificate; and
) if the lot is in a community titles scheme, a copy of the community

management statement (CMS) the body corporate certificate or
statement that seller hasn't obtained and reasons why (with similar
provisions if the lot is in a scheme established for an existing 1980
Act plan or under the Building Units and Group Titles Act 71980).

We do not oppose the items listed in s4(1)(a)-(i), save for the requirement to
provide a copy of the CMS.

We reiterate our position held throughout consultation that a seller should not
be obligated to provide a copy of the CMS with the body corporate certificate,
as a CMS can be voluminous and providing same will inundate the buyer with
information that will likely overwhelm the buyer and undermine the purpose of
the disclosure.

This is a matter that has been discussed broadly, in particular, by the Community
Titles Legislation Working Group (CTL Working Group), of which the REIQ is a
party. In alignment with discussions held within the CTL Working Group, we
recommend that this requirement be deleted.

In our view, including such requirement to provide a CMS with the disclosure
documents is regressive given that the requirement was previously introduced
in Queensland in 2011 and shortly repealed thereafter because of the practical
difficulties associated.

Notably, this decision is against the recommendations given in the QUT Property
Law Review.

We direct the Committee’s attention to section 6.3.7 of the Report?

2Final Report: Seller Disclosure in Queensland, Commercial and Property Law Research Centre QUT LAW (2017)
https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2017-09/apo-nid107061.pdf




The Interim Report suggested that the by-laws for a body corporate could
be included with the body corporate certificate. The by-laws for a scheme
under the BCCM Act are contained in the community management
statement (CMS) for the scheme a copy of which can be obtained from the
Land Registry. Concern was raised by stakeholders about the cost to the
seller of obtaining a copy of the by-laws, potential difficulties for body
corporate managers in obtaining a copy (given that there is no statutory
obligation for a current copy of the by-laws to be held by the body
corporate manager) and whether a buyer will actually read and also
understand the impact of the by-laws on them. To accommodate these
concerns the Centre recommends a compromise. A buyer should be
provided with information about key types of by-laws that may apply with
a recommendation to make further inquiries with the body corporate. The
body corporate certificate should include prescribed information as
follows: By-laws for the Scheme regulate the responsibilities and conduct
of lot owners and occupiers in the scheme. If you buy a lot in the scheme
you will be bound to comply with the by-laws. The by-laws may contain
rules about:

e smoking;

e whether there are restrictions on keeping pets;

e noise on the lot and parties;

e parking on lots and common property; and

e rights and restrictions about lot owners’ use of common property

or

e exclusive use areas.
The by-laws are part of the Community Management Statement for the
Scheme. Your solicitor can obtain a copy of the by-laws and Community
Management Statement for you.

We query what basis the Department has formed its policy to bring back this
requirement and strongly recommend this position is reconsidered.

s 5 - prescribed
information

The information prescribed for the sale of a lot, to be included in the disclosure
statement, includes:

the name of the seller;

the address of the lot;

the lot on plan description;

whether the lot is included in a community titles scheme or subject to a
plan under the BUGTA;

details of each unregistered encumbrance:

o an unregistered lease, including, for example, a short lease as
mentioned in the Land Title Act 1994, section 185(1)(b);

o an access agreement, opt-out agreement or conduct and
compensation agreement under the Mineral and Energy
Resources (Common Provisions) Act 2014,

o an unregistered charge, mortgage, easement or profit a prendre




known, or reasonably expected to be known, to the seller;

o a charge, restriction, or other burden affecting the title of the lot
created under an Act of the Commonwealth or a State in favour
of the Commonwealth, a State or a local government;

e the zoning as published on the local government website;

e information relating to contamination and environmental protection;

e information about whether an application effecting tree or order
effecting a tree on lot exists;

e whether the lot is subject to a transport infrastructure proposal;

e whether the lot is affected by the Queensland Heritage Act or is included
in the World Heritage List;

e if the Commonwealth or State has issued a notice of intention to resume;

e if there is a pool;

e if there is a commercial office building that's bigger than 1,000 SQM,;

¢ rates information pertaining to the lot; and

e water information pertaining to the lot.

Generally, we are satisfied with the policy position taken in relation to the
prescribed information, notwithstanding our view that unregistered statutory
encumbrances should be expressly excluded.

Generally, the information in this list will be within the seller's knowledge, or
attainable at nominal cost and time delay to the seller.

In particular, we are pleased with the definition of unregistered encumbrance
which reasonably limits the type of unregistered encumbrance which must be
disclosed, and in the case of an unregistered charge, mortgage, easement or
profit a prendre, places the appropriate limitation, being that only those known,
or reasonably expected to be known to the seller, must be disclosed. We are
also pleased that the requirement for the seller to describe the unregistered
encumbrance has been removed from this version of the Bill.

Notwithstanding the above, it remains our view that statutory encumbrances
should not need to be disclosed by the seller.

This brings much needed balance to the provision and in our view, aligns with
the guiding principles of the regime.

Schedule 1
Warnings and other
statements

We are generally supportive of the warning statements and in particular, the
statement to the buyer that they should seek legal advice about the matters
contained within the disclosure statement.

With respect to flooding, we support the position set out in Schedule 1, being a
warning that the statement does not include flooding and other natural hazard
information and a direction to the buyer of how they may conduct their own
searches and enquiries.




We do however request that the Buyers be directed to other sources should the
FloodCheck Queensland portal or the Australian Flood Risk Information portal
not hold the relevant information.

If the Committee would like our position on, and/or reasons for support of, any of the other provisions of
Part 7 not mentioned above, we would be pleased to provide a copy of our prior Submissions for the
Committee’s consideration.

Approved Forms

We have not reviewed the draft statutory forms since August 2022. Given there have been numerous
changes to the draft Bill since initial consultation, we strongly recommend the Department provide the
relevant stakeholders, including the REIQ, with an opportunity to provide feedback on the proposed
approved form.

Focus should be given to the guiding principles, on the basis that the supply of too much and potentially
irrelevant information within the forms, will likely result in same being ignored by buyers due to its
inherent overwhelming nature and accordingly, will undermine the intention of the regime.

INFRASTRUCTURE TO SUPPORT SELLER’S DISCLOSURE

The introduction of a seller’s disclosure regime will change the way property is transacted in Queensland.
An important practical consideration is how information can be easily and quickly obtained by the seller
or their agent, at minimal cost, in alignment with the guiding principles.

In other States, such as South Australia, Victoria and New South Wales, the Government supports their
seller’s disclosure regime by having robust information systems and infrastructure that allows property
owners to easily obtain some or all of the information they need at minimal cost (in most cases) to satisfy
their disclosure requirements.

For example, in addition to usual property searches (title search, plan search, dealing searches), Land Use
in Victoria provides a number of free reports for properties in Victoria including:

1. Property PDF containing:
e a detailed map of the property;
e information about the property;
e Local Government Area and Council Property number;
¢ Directory references;
e Electoral information - legislative council and assembly;
e Utilities such as water providers and power distributors; and
e Also information about Planning Zones and Overlays.



2. Planning PDF containing:
¢ Planning scheme information;
¢ Planning zones and overlaps; and
¢ Planning mapping information.

Currently in Queensland, the availability of property information is disparate between the local
government areas.

The type, currency and accessibility of information is dependent on the information systems managed by
the local governments and are generally greater in metropolitan areas than in regional areas.
Consequently, a seller in a regional or rural area may not have access to the same information as a seller
in a metropolitan area. An example of this disparity can be seen in the flood history information provided
by the various local governments.

The cost of searches can also vary significantly between local governments. By way of example, a rates
search is free from Brisbane City Council but costs $180.00 from Western Downs Regional Council, $151.00
from Gold Coast City Council and $92.00 from Burdekin Shire Council.

We recommend at minimum that investment is made in the current information systems at a State level
(Queensland Globe, State Planning Policy (SPP) Interactive Mapping System) to improve these systems,
expand the offering and ensure sellers in all areas of Queensland have the same ability to access current
information that they may need in order to comply with the regime.

As we have previously noted during consultation, the implementation of this regime will cause an
additional administrative burden to the real estate industry. However, the REIQ is in support of the
objectives of the regime given its benefits.

Further, we note the REIQ is committed to creating resources and education to assist real estate
professionals in Queensland with the introduction of the seller disclosure regime. It is our view that in
addition to improved infrastructure, having real estate agents prepare compliant forms is achievable with
the right support and education.

It is critical that further consideration is given to the development of infrastructure to support the regime
and to ensure accessibility and price consistency. If sellers are required to comply with this new regime,
they are entitled to expect that appropriate support mechanisms are invested in by Government.






The provision as drafted in s144(3) applies despite any agreement to the
contrary.

In order to maintain flexibility of negotiation between commercial parties, the
REIQ recommends that the position outlined in the section should be subject to
any agreement between the parties to the contrary, as is reflected in s143(6)(b).

153 - 162
Relief against
forfeiture

The REIQ is generally supportive of the re-write and clarification of s124, being
an important provision stipulating how a lessor can take possession of the
premises as a result of a lessee failing to remedy a breach of a lease, of which
they have received notice.

The re-casting of requirements for the lessor's notice to remedy breach is
acceptable and appear to be an attempt to overcome instances with the existing

PLA s124 by reason of minor or ‘technical’ flaws with the notice.

It is noted that the period for remedy remains cast as a “reasonable period”
without prescribing a specific timeframe.

The REIQ supports this approach as a continuance of the current position.

164 — When lessor
may refuse to renew
or extend term of a
lease

By virtue of the wording of s164(1)(b)(iii), (c)(iii) and (4), it would seem that in
the event the tenant failed to give notice of intention to exercise an option
within the period required under the lease, then rather than the option lapsing
as is the current position under s128 of the PLA, this provision would put the
onus on the lessor to give a notice to the tenant of the loss of option within 10
business days, otherwise the lessor would lose the right to forego the option.
This is a significant change from the current position and effectively overrides
the terms of commercial and retail leases where presently it is taken that time is
of the essence for exercise of options to renew in leases. This change would
have important impact on current practices for property management of leased
properties.

The REIQ recommends that the definition of formal requirement under
subsection (4) be amended to include the requirement for the notice to be given
within the strict time limits imposed by the lease. These time frames are
generally 3 or more months in length and allow parties sufficient time to make
commercial arrangements depending on whether the option is to be exercised,
impacting on both the financial viability of the premises for the lessor and the
day-to-day business operations of the lessee. Therefore, it is our view that
disregarding time frames to provide notice stipulated and agreed between the
parties in the lease would be disadvantageous and the current position of the
PLA should be retained.

We further note the introduction of new provisions ss 166 and 167 provides a
lessee with a statutory right to apply for relief if the lessor has not complied with
s164. Whilst we are in favour of this addition as an important protection for




lessees, our support is subject to our above comments to ensure the rights of
the parties are balanced and commercial freedoms with respect to negotiating
the term of a lease is retained.

Schedule 1 (3) -
Standard terms of
lease

We are generally supportive of the Standard Terms contained in Schedule 1 to
the Bill and are pleased with the REIQ's recommendations being adopted with
respect to (3), ensuring that a lessee shall only be required to yield up possession
of a premises in no better repair and condition than as required under the lease.







6. CONCLUSION

Proclamation Date

We note the Act will commence on a day to be fixed by proclamation, however to our knowledge, there
is no proposed time frame for this period.

It is our view that Part 7, Division 4 (Seller’s disclosure) should not come into effect for a period of at least
12 months after the commencement of the Act.

This will enable the requisite education and training to be developed and implemented to ensure the real
estate sector and Queensland property owners are familiarised with the provisions and can carry out their
obligations under the Act. We expect the legal profession will also require this time to ensure they have
the resources available to provide the necessary advices to buyers with respect to these processes, the
disclosure statements and prescribed certificates.

The disclosure requirements to be introduced will change the way property is transacted in Queensland
and our population needs to have time to significantly familiarise themselves with the changes before it
comes into effect.

The remaining provisions (ie. Part 6 (Deeds) and Part 7 (Contracts for sale of land) and Part 9 (Leases)), we
suggest should not come into effect for a period of at least 6 months to allow:

e the necessary updates to the REIQ Contracts for sale of land;

e updates to resources relating to commercial leases; and

e development of education and training for the real estate profession, legal profession and Queensland
residential and commercial property owners.

Notably, in addition to the Property Law Bill, there are a number of other proposed legislative reforms
planned to take effect around the same time such as changes to tenancy laws, body corporate legislation
and mandatory CPD for real estate professionals, that will have significant impact on the property sector.

For this reason, we strongly request consideration be given to the timing of implementation to allow the
sector the appropriate time to prepare for these changes. As a critical contributor to the economy of
Queensland, the property sector must be granted appropriate time to prepare for these significant
changes.

Our Support of the Seller’s Disclosure Regime

Although we are generally pleased with most of the changes adopted by the Bill, we note the policy
position and drafting of some outstanding matters are of concern to the REIQ.

In particular, we are most concerned with:

e the omission of an express statement that a disclosure statement is not defective merely because it
contains minor technical inaccuracies;



e the drafting of s101 and s103, prescribing two separate processes for giving a disclosure statement
before and during an auction depending on when a buyer registered as a bidder;

e the buyer's ability to terminate without being materially prejudiced by the error and/or omission under
section 104(1)(b); and

e the regressive requirement for sellers of a lot in a community titles scheme to provide a community
management statement (CMS) as a prescribed certificate.

For the reasons outlined in this Submission, we strongly recommend the above provisions should be
reconsidered.

Additionally, to balance the rights of the buyer and seller, we recommend a time limit should be imposed
on when the buyer can exercise their termination rights under s104 of the Bill.

Such limitation would secure the benefit of the termination rights for a buyer in a position where the
statement given is inaccurate in a timely manner, saving both parties the time and expenditure of
preparing for settlement and the potential risk of dispute where a buyer relies on provisions to terminate
an unconditional contract for minor technical errors or omissions, if they are unable to complete a
contract.

Education, training and resources
Queensland has a property transaction landscape unique to any other State or Territory in Australia.

Transactions are generally shorter in time and are more cost effective to both parties because of the
important role real estate professionals play in facilitating the transaction and contract.

We believe the current version of the Bill, subject to our comments herein, will achieve the intended
objectives and aligns with the guiding principles.

Given that the majority of real estate transactions and dealings in Queensland are facilitated by real estate
professionals, the REIQ, as the peak industry body, will play an instrumental role in educating about these
changes. For this reason, it is imperative that we are consulted about the commencement of the Bill and
ancillary matters, such as the contents of the approved forms for the seller’s disclosure regime.

Additionally, there also needs to be sufficient time for revision or preparation of many standard forms and
precedents that are presently geared for the existing PLA.

It should be understood that of the effectiveness of the property sector arises from a stable and certain
legislative environment regarding fundamental property rights and obligations, which has enabled a high
degree of efficiency in the market.



The enactment of the Bill will be a temporary but significant disruption to that efficiency, and there will
be a ‘productivity cost’ to implement the new Act for all industry participants, so a significant lead-in time
is considered essential for these changes.

We are committed to working with the Department and creating the required resources and education to
prepare real estate professionals and stakeholders in Queensland for the proposed changes. Community
education should also be prioritised with the introduction of this Bill, given that it encapsulates some of
the most significant changes to property transactions since the Bills inception in 1974.
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Dear Customers,
eConveyancing mandate (Land Title Regulation 2022) — upcoming practice changes

The Land Title Regulation 2022 mandates that certain land registry instruments must be lodged
using eConveyancing from 20 February 2023 (the eConveyancing mandate) unless an exemption
applies.

Upon the commencement of the eConveyancing mandate, changes will be introduced to Titles
Queensland practice requirements. Customers lodging instruments in paper (including using
eLodgement) that are subject to the eConveyancing mandate will be required to indicate which
exemption to the mandate applies to their lodgement. This will be done by completing and
depositing an Exemption Request Form (ERF) with the instrument being lodged.

From 20 February 2023, Part 62 of the Land Title Practice Manual will be updated to contain
information on this new practice, as well as the release of a guide to completion for the new ERF.
A draft version of Part 62 is available here, with the proposed amendments shown via tracked
changes — link.
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PEXA Group Limited

Property Exchange Australia (PEXA) is a multi-award
winning, ASX-listed, homegrown property technology
business, harnessing technology to revolutionise the way
property is bought and sold in Australia for the betterment
of homeowners nationally. PEXA has developed and
operates the world’s only fully digitised property settlement
platform.

A Council of Australian Governments (COAG) deregulation
initiative designed to streamline the property settlement
process, PEXA's technology is now involved in the safe and
efficient settlement of over 85% of all land transactions
across Australia.

The backbone of this country’s largest asset class -
residential property - more than 160 financial institutions
and more than 9,700 legal and conveyancing firms

in Australia rely on PEXA every day for the effective
settlement of property.

In short, we connect people to place.

More than 20,000 families per week settle their home
through the PEXA Exchange. As the inventor of what is now
critical infrastructure at the core of home ownership, we
are also committed to helping governments, industry and
homebuyers to address the issues of housing affordability,
future infrastructure needs and homelessness.

By virtue of our day job, PEXA puts people into homes. As a
natural extension of that, PEXA has partnered with Homes

for Homes to tackle homelessness through the creation of

more sustainable and affordable housing. But there is more
we can do.

With over 12 million property transactions having crossed
our platform to date, PEXA has access to the largest
database of real time property data of any provider
nationally; data that can appropriately drive meaningful
insights, contributing to fit-for-purpose housing policy and
reform, providing all Australians access to security.

1. PEXABrand Research December 2021, Nature.

And it’s not just locally that we have a positive impact.
PEXA is also leveraging its intellectual property to
develop robust technology solutions for international
markets. With the United Kingdom (UK) as its starting
point, PEXA is working closely with Her Majesty’s Land
Registry, the Bank of England and the UK banking sector
to deliver digital solutions that enable consumers to
access more competitive interest rates faster, reducing
mortgage stress.

To help the greatest number of individuals access
appropriate housing, PEXA is also investing in digital tools
and technologies, and partnering with other providers to
create solutions that add value to government, consumers
and the property industry.

Our core values are: Better Together; Innovate for Good;
and Make it Happen, Make it Count. And we will.

PEXA currently employs more than 500 people across
Australia and the UK. It is recognised as one of Australia’s
premier employers via the Best Place to Work Awards and
leads the industry on brand trust with a rating of 8.9/10 .

We are passionate about building and sharing our talent
with the world and identifying opportunities to extend

our offering and capabilities across the property tech
eco-system. This includes paying tribute to our own humble
beginnings through support and mentorship for other
emerging homegrown tech start-ups.

We believe alongside our partners we can address housing
affordability, create more jobs and deliver better outcomes
for consumers, both here and abroad.





















Customer experience

PEXA Exchange offers its members, and the homebuyers
and sellers they represent, a range of additional value-add
tools, including:

PEXA Plus: offers dashboards to summarise activity for
practitioners and services from third party providers such
as title searches and property council certificates in New
South Wales and Victoria.

PEXA Projects: provides an efficient and simple way for
property developers, large practitioner firms and panel

law firms (representing developers) to manage multiple
workspaces for multi-lot settlements. During FY22, more
than 4,400 ‘Projects’ completed, resulting in the seamless,
coordinated settlement of more than 65,000 properties.

PEXA Planner: provides a platform for financial institutions
and large practitioner users that enables greater visibility
of upcoming settlements in an aggregated, efficient view.
As at 30 June 2022, the four largest Australian banks have
adopted PEXA Planner as a tool for property settlements.
PEXA also welcomed 50 further subscribers in the form of
other lenders, panel practitioners and law firms.

PEXA Key: delivers consumers a mobile application that
provides settlement tracking information to increase
transparency for buyers and sellers, while also decreasing
the risk of fraud by providing a mechanism to exchange
financial information securely prior to settlement.

PEXA Tracker: provides a platform for financial institutions
that enables frontline employees visibility on upcoming
settlements, delivering a better experience for banking
customers. As at 30 June 2022, more than 11,000 frontline
bank employees across eight financial institutions were
using PEXA Tracker on aregular basis.
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How does the PEXA Exchange
generate revenue?

The PEXA Exchange generates revenue based on
volume and type of transaction. Most transactions
comprise a financial settlement between the parties and
a simultaneous fees lodgement of documents with a land
registry. PEXA’s fees are paid as part of completing each
transaction.

PEXA does not charge set-up fees or subscription costs
and only charges its subscribers per successful PEXA
Exchange transaction. PEXA groups its PEXA Exchange
transactions into three categories:

Transfer lodgements: dealings connected to the transfer
of a property title or sales transfer, and any associated
discharges and mortgages in conjunction with the property
transfer and other ownership transfers such as inheritance
and family law matters.

Refinancing lodgements: dealings connected to the
refinance of a debt facility secured by a mortgage, but
which are not connected to a sales transfer and involve
adischarge of an existing mortgage replaced by a new
mortgage.

Other lodgements: other dealings lodged, either alone

or together, but which are not connected to a transfer
lodgement or arefinance lodgement such as a standalone
discharge of mortgage lodged after a loan has been wholly
repaid, a standalone mortgage lodged after a new loan is
advanced, caveat-related dealings, death-related dealings,
and lease-related dealings.

A lodgement can lead to multiple dealings (and searches
of the Register). The number of dealings that can be
processed electronically determines the number of
transactions for which an ELNO can charge a fee (billable
transactions).

In addition to PEXA Exchange transactions, PEXA offers
a service for ordering and renewing the digital signing
certificates it provides.

Under the Model Operating Requirements, the PEXA
Exchange has a pricing policy that allows for price
adjustments based on CPl and regulatory input cost
changes.

1
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INSIGHTS AND

INSIGHT PRODUCTS

Australia’s $10 trillion housing market is continuing to be
rapidly transformed by digital technology innovations, like
the PEXA Exchange.

The creation of significant volumes of property data is
generating opportunities for new solutions that enhance
decision-making in a market being reshaped by economic,
environmental, and social factors. PEXA estimates that the
total Australian market for information about property and
property transactions could grow from $520 million annually
today to over $1.1 billion annually over the next 5 years.

PEXA Insights’ vision is clear - deliver a new generation of
data solutions that empower businesses, governments,
and consumers to appropriately make more informed
property-related decisions. Greater insights have the
power to transform property experiences for everyone and
bring about positive social and economic change for the
Australian community at large.

To realise this vision, we've built a team of over 60 data
specialists within PEXA Insights. The team is focused on
building a property data bureau and developing reports and
solutions that appropriately leverage our unique access

to near real-time, accurate and comprehensive national
property data, which include:

Quarterly Property and Mortgage Insights reports
released throughout FY22 are providing a first glimpse
of the power of our data

With an initial focus on servicing financial institutions,
we are working to deliver products to support risk and
capital management and process optimisation

With new product concepts under development and
in beta, we are working towards several new product
launchesin FY23.

The PEXA Group set up and funded PEXA Insights to
expand its service offering across four strategic focus
areas: demand for land; use of land; transaction efficiency;
and affordability, introducing new revenue streams

and markets.

The proliferation of property data means that partnerships
are key to realising our vision. Drawing on our in-depth
understanding of Australian property data, we're pursuing
partnerships with organisations that share our vision,
including cutting-edge data firms and universities.
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Our strategy is focused on building a property data ecosystem that can answer important questions
facing Australians.

Where is there demand for land, now and into the future?
How can the use of land be optimised to increase valuations?

How do we increase the supply of housing to ease affordability challenges?

How do businesses in property value chains improve their business efficiency?







Two further strategic investments in Australian data firms
were undertaken post 30 June 2022:

Acquisition of a 70% stake in Slate Analytics, a
progressive property analytics and technology
solution co-developed by the University of New South
Wales and FrontierSl. This investment complements
PEXA's 26.5% investment in Elula.

PEXA will leverage its deep technical capability to bring
the tool to life, allowing financiers, insurers, developers,
government and consumers to benefit from more
accurate property valuation data. The tool has
application for PEXA'’s financial institution customers,
potentially expediting the mortgage approvals process
on behalf of homebuyers nationally.

Acquisition of 100% of .id, a leading Australian-grown
demographic-based consulting company..id is a land
information business that provides demographic and
economic data and forecasts at the micro-geographic
level to over 300 local councils across Australia and
New Zealand.

This business provides local government with insights
around the “demand for land” focus area, with the
intention to further both organisations’ positions as
leaders in property insights, products and services.

It has become the trusted resource for land information,
and together with PEXA's market-leading information
oninternal migration patterns, whichis a key inputinto
determining land demand, we believe that jointly we
could deliver an even greater offering to both councils
and the wider property industry.

Open data

With businesses and governments rapidly digitising
services, data sharing is a key opportunity for the Australian
economy. More open data flows have the potential to
reduce friction for consumers and businesses, while driving
competition that stimulates innovation and economic
growth. PEXA is continuing to advocate for more open and
ethical regulatory regimes for the use of data within the
Australian economy, including property data.

As PEXA builds and implements solutions to answer
increasingly significant questions for policy makers,
government, commercial players, and the wider community,
we follow the guiding principles set out below to ensure we
are doing so responsibly, ethically and with society in mind:

PEXA systems should incorporate “privacy and
security by design”, with privacy and security controls
at the core of our data handling, processing, and analytic
platforms

Open access to information enables our customers
and the community to make informed decisions
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Ethical use of data that carefully preserves and
respects individual rights without bias or prejudice,
while positively promoting PEXA’s values in line with
the community’s expectations.

As PEXA Insights continues to grow, leveraging data in an
ethical manner than preserves the rights of individuals is
central to our approach. We believe that open access to
information within such parameters will enable Australia to
benefit from innovative new data solutions that enhance
property decision making.

The Ethical Advisory Council (EAC) has been established
to guide our business on the evolving legislative and
technology landscape we operate within, ensuring ethical
product development that champions a ‘security by design’
approach while supporting regulatory engagement.

Chaired by PEXA’s Chief Data and Analytics Officer, Scott
Butterworth, the EAC includes independent members
from industry who provide expert advice to PEXA Insights’
management:

Dr lan Oppermann, Chief Data Scientist, NSW Government

Dr.lan Oppermann is the NSW Government’s Chief

Data Scientist and an Industry Professor at University of
Technology Sydney, with nearly 30 years of experience in
the Information and Communications Technology (ICT)
sector spanning senior management roles in Europe

and Australia.

Malcolm Crompton AM, Partner, ISS Partners

Malcolm Crompton AM has more than 20 years of
experience in privacy, including as Australia’s Privacy
Commissioner from 1999 to 2004. A founder and Partner
at ISS Partners, he is a leading privacy expert, advising
private and government clients on privacy matters across
a wide range of industries.

In FY23, we will build on the foundations we’ve laid over
the past year, which include:

Working with technology sector partners on policy
advocacy, backing regulation that will protect privacy
and data while positioning Australia as a digital
economy regulation leader

Engagement with the Commonwealth’s Statutory
Review of the Consumer Data Right (CDR), explaining
our support of an economy-wide CDR, including in the
property sector

Continuing our engagement with regulators and
land registries, to explain the significant benefits for
consumers and the economy that solutions utilising
land information can deliver.

Given this, we are continuing PEXA’s advocacy for more
open and ethical regulatory regimes for the use of data.
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HOUSING AFFORDABILITY

Governments devote enormous amounts of time, effort
and money to help Australians realise the dream of buying
their own home. But there is another group of forgotten
Australians who have far more modest ambitions - all they
want is a roof over their heads.

Homelessness has been and remains a major issue in
Australia and is a key area of focus for PEXA.

Homelessness Australia estimates over 115,000
Australians are experiencing homelessness and almost
300,000 people will seek the support of homelessness
services this year as they escape violence and the shortage
of social and affordable housing. Those figures have
remained stubbornly high over the past five years and

with rents increasing by 9.7% over the past 12 months, the
problem is likely to get worse.

Certain demographics are also more vulnerable than others.

Of the 278,300 people who sought homeless services in
2020-21, 60% were women, 42% were experiencing family
and domestic violence, 32% had current mental health
issues, 26% were indigenous Australians and 24% were
aged between 12-24 years.

Numerous factors can trigger homelessness - including
suddenjob loss, iliness or injury - and it can happen

to anyone. By definition, it is not only those sleeping
rough (7%) but those who couch surf, move between
accommodation, or are forced to sleep in cars.

Reducing homelessness can have significant social upside
in addressing those root causes of disadvantage. Having
aroof over your head is not only a basic right but has
enormous flow-on benefits. That is why PEXA is a major
supporter of the Homes for Homes social enterprise, which
seeks to help end homelessness in Australia by asking
property owners to donate 0.1% of the sale price of their
property, which is then pooled and disbursed to community
housing providers. We also support those who strive to
build awareness of the issue through other mediums, such
as the team behind a recent Australian indie feature film
‘Some Happy Day'.

There are no easy answers to homelessness. These are
problems that need to be untangled thoughtfully, not
simply by throwing more money at the market. We cannot
keep trying the same solutions and coming up with the
same poor results.

Policymakers need an even greater level of granularity of
data, showing trends and impacts at a demographic level,
not at a state or national level. We need research based

on people and property. The buying and selling behaviour
of demographic segments - the young, families, the
vulnerable, women, indigenous Australians, immigrants
and so on - will help determine the root causes of housing
disadvantage and help governments to design more refined
policies to tackle homelessness.

At PEXA, we believe more timely and accurate data will help
governments better understand the problems and drivers,
enabling them to formulate more targeted and effective
policy responses and measure theirimpact. PEXA is primed
to help. But with rents continuing to increase, the problem is
likely to get worse.
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THE HOUSING MARKET -
TRENDS ACROSS FY22

FY22 was an extraordinary year for Australia’s housing
market, posting record numbers for property sale
settlements, refinances and new loans against a backdrop
of rising interest rates and inflation, growing housing
affordability concerns and a rising cost of living impacting
consumer sentiment.

Recorded 95,315 Led residential property

A tale of two halves for property
sale settlements

Australia’s east-coast property market delivered back-
to-back record-breaking financial years, with more than
628,000 residential property sale settlements - worth an
aggregate $554 billion - being completed in the year.

Western Australia also preformed strongly, almost reaching
100,000 sale settlements for the year.

The nation’s most populous states, Queensland, New South
Wales and Victoria all experienced year-on-year volume
growth for property sale settlements, with Queensland
leading the way with 220,692 residential settlements, up
almost12% from FY21.

201,361 residential

Highest aggregate

property sale
settlements, up almost
10% from FY21.

Aggregate value

of property sale
settlements reached
$55.2 billion (up 27.8%
year-on-year).

volumes - recording
220,692 property sale
settlements (up 12%
year-on-year) worth
more than $148 billion
(up 36% year-on-year).
The Surfers Paradise
and Broadbeach
postcodes combined
for an aggregate sale
settlement value

of approximately

$6 billion.

value of residential
settlements for the
second year in a row,
recording 206,052
settlements (up 1.5%
year-on-year) worth
$238.5 billion (up 29%
year-on-year).

The state’s commercial
property sector grew
13% in sale settlements,
worth $39.6 billion (up
61% year-on-year).
Marsden Park placed
third in the top ten
postcodes for volume
of residential sale
settlements and came
in at number one for
the aggregate value of
settlements (more than
$3.5 billion).

property sale
settlements (up 8.6%
year-on-year) worth
more than $167 billion
(up 35% year-on-year).

Strong commercial
property sale
settlements growth
with 13,696 (up 24%
year-on-year), worth an
aggregate of $34 billion
(up 50% year-on-year).
Dandenong, Pakenham,
Truganina and Epping
took out the top four
postcodes across the
east coast for total
volume of commercial
sale settlements.

Truganina, Craigieburn,
Point Cook, Cranbourne
East and Clyde North

all made the top ten
postcodes for volume
of residential sale
settlements.

Note: PEXA continues to work with the land registry and government in South Australia to unlock access to the State’s property data.
As market penetration of digital settlements increases in ACT, PEXA will include that region in future analysis.
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PX VENTURES

PX Ventures was launched in 2021 with the goal to build on
PEXA'’s technological and property industry expertise and
entrepreneurial culture with like-minded innovators.

PX Ventures offers funding, bespoke services, and
mentoring to support continued innovation in the Australian
property sector, bringing new products to market for
businesses and consumers.

Through PX Launchpad, PX Ventures targets start-ups

that offer products or services that could significantly
transform the property journey for Australian consumers,
businesses or governments. PX Launchpad has received
more than 100 ideas from several up-and-coming Australian
businesses interested in scaling and commercialising their
offering.

PX Ventures continues to investigate other opportunities that
will facilitate the property journey for key consumer groups.

Several ventures were launched or progressed with
external partners during FY22, including partnerships
with Business Advantage, Honey Insurance and Smaver.
Post 30 June 2022, PEXA also signed a strategic
partnership with Sorted Services.

Business Advantage

Our partnership with Small Business Australia continues,
through the ‘Business Advantage’ program. Business
Advantage offers PEXA members the support they need

in running their business, including access to coaches,
confidential advice, training and more. Today, this program
has more than 700 members and continues to grow.

Honey Insurance

Australian start-up Honey Insurance helps remove the guess
work for customers in receiving the right level of insurance
cover, reducing the sign-up process from 30 minutes

to 3 minutes. This collaboration provides Australian
homebuyers and sellers a simpler and smarter option for
home insurance via PEXA’s secure app, PEXA Key.

Smaver

PX Ventures has also partnered with Smaver, an intuitive

app to help new home buyers transition to a new community.
Smaver helps homebuyers plan, organise and move with pro
tips and access to great value offers from trusted providers in
one convenient location.

Sorted

PX Ventures has signed a strategic partnership with
Sorted Services, a local Melbourne proptech, to provide
Australian homebuyers and sellers a convenient and
connected home services experience, making it easy to
access everything needed for their home, all available in
one app. To be offered in FY23, the partnership will see
PEXA rapidly expand the services and value we add to
Australian homebuyers and sellers.
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Wellbeing and Workplace Experience

In FY22, we formalised our wellbeing strategy, centering it
on the vision of creating opportunities focusing on holistic
health and wellbeing, and around four key pillars: physical
health and safety, mental health, education and support.

As part of this, we have rolled out a successful wellbeing
series governed by our wellbeing framework launched in
July 2022. Due to the success of the wellbeing strategy,
PEXA has been shortlisted in numerous external awards
including Best Health and Wellbeing Program and Best
Employee Wellness Strategy. We have 50 PEXArians
trained in mental health aid. 76% of PEXArians took at least
one wellness day, with a total of 925 wellness days taken by
PEXArians, which speaks to the success of the initiative.

PEXA partnered with Oranges Toolkit to provide
engaging programs, wellbeing and resilience strategies
for PEXArians. As part of its focus on wellness, PEXA
offers its teams subsidised gym memberships, access
to free online bootcamps, yoga and meditation sessions
as well as a confidential Employee Assistance Program
that provides access to free counselling sessions with
qualified professionals.

Diversity & Inclusion

At PEXA, we believe we're better together and that means
embracing diversity within the workplace, advocating for
change, driving progress, and supporting inclusion.

The Diversity & Inclusion Committee continued into its
third year in FY22 with passion and enthusiasm across all its
pillars including Pride, Reconciliation, Disability & Wellness,
Gender and Cultural & Linguistics. The Committee facilitated
events for International Women’s Day, International Men’s
Day, Diwali, NAIDOC week, Mardi Gras and neurodiversity.
On three key D&I metrics, we placed in the top 25% global
tech benchmark in our June engagement survey.

In line with PEXA's focus on diversity & inclusion, PEXA'’s
Executive team is 50% female and 50% male (excluding
the CEOQ).
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Learning and Development

In FY22, we continued our individual PEXArian contribution
of A$1,000 towards training and development and began
design of the PEXA Academy to be launched in FY23.

We had our second intake of graduates, who commenced
in July 2021, and also participated in the Victorian
Government’s Digital Jobs program by taking on three
technical interns. We continued to develop our people
leaders, with a focus on wellbeing and hybrid working,

and kicked off our second internal mentoring program

in March with 50 employee mentoring pairs.

PEXA Equity Future program

In an exciting new chapter for the Company, PEXArians
have been invited to own shares in PEXA beyond their
normal salary and performance-based bonuses.

Supportlng our PEXArians
Six months’ paid parental leave for primary carers
Three months’ paid parental leave for secondary carers
Superannuation contributions during unpaid leave
Childcare assistance up to $1,000 a month
On-site school holiday programs
Wellness initiatives:
- Freeflushots
- Healthy snacks
- Gymsessions (virtual and in-person)
- Mindfulness and meditation
- Subsidised gym memberships
- Financial literacy classes

- Free confidential counselling via Assure.
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Building a sustainable future

At PEXA we look at our Environment, Social and
Governance (ESG) responsibilities in the context of building
our organisation for the long-term. Being sustainable is
more than an intention, it's about taking proactive action to
positively impact the lives of our people, our communities,
and our planet.

We take our responsibility very seriously. It’s why our
ESG approachis integrated through our core values and
business strategy. We feel it is only right that our ESG
focus areas are transparent, tangible, achievable and
committed publicly.

Our commitment to the environment -
net zero by 2025

We recognise that the actions we take today are critical to
protecting our planet for future generations. There is no
longer an option for organisations to sit idle. It's why we're
committed to understanding our impact and taking action
to address our footprint, aligning our initiatives to globally
agreed goals.

We all have a role to play in creating a sustainable future,
and PEXA is passionate about leading the way forward.
PEXA’s environmental statement is written to transparently
outline how we approach and foster a sustainable culture
throughout our business and broader operating network.

Our approach is founded on the following principals:

Transparency is key for us. Although we only truly
focused on our journey to identify and address our
carbon footprint from 2020, we are conscious to ensure
we take all team members and industry on the journey
with us. We believe the best way to tackle our impact

is to be open and honest about our journey so we can
leverage best practice and collaborate with peers

to deliver real outcomes. It is for that reason that we
publish our Greenhouse Gas Emissions reporting on
our website

Progress over perfection helps to keep the dial moving.
We commit to leaning on the expertise of others as we
build our internal capability, and will focus on continuous
momentum to ensure incremental change

Ambition must equal action as we deliver value through
our environmental approach. While our footprint is
relatively small due to being a digital business, we know
our impact doesn’t have to be. Every tonne of carbon we
reduce helps contribute to the future of our planet, and
our efforts are designed to inspire others

The ability to evolve and adapt in an ever-changing
environmental landscape is critical. In line with our
overarching business strategy, our approach to
sustainability is built on flexible foundations, to make
sure we are consistently challenging our own views
on success.

We promise to:

Consistently evaluate our impact, the opportunities and
the risks associated with climate change throughout our
business, operations, and value chain

Take action and address identified opportunities and
risks, both within our direct control and across areas
where we can influence

Transparently report on our emissions reduction and
offset strategy, supporting our commitment to become
a net zero organisation by 2025.
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ESG governance

PEXA has a Risk and Compliance Committee (RCC), which
meets monthly, reporting into the PEXA Audit & Risk
Committee. The RCC is accountable for evaluating both
risks and opportunities across our organisation, including
those which relate to climate change. This line of reporting
provides both visibility and awareness of the risks and
opportunities to our executive team and senior decision
makers across the business.

PEXA evaluates and addresses risks and opportunities
across the following key areas:

Governance practices, processes, and policies

Supply chain procurement and contract management
for both new and existing suppliers

Day-to-day operations, both on and offshore

Engagement with stakeholders, customers, industry
partners and our people.

Reducing and offsetting our emissions

PEXA conducted a greenhouse gas emission profile

for FY21, with 96.4% classified as Scope 3 (the FY22
greenhouse gas assessment is underway with Pangolin
Associates). This makes for a challenging landscape in
which to achieve real reductions throughout our value chain,
as although these emissions are a consequence of PEXA’s
activities, they are derived from sources that are not owned
or controlled by PEXA.

We take our responsibility to the environment seriously and
want to leave no stone unturned to both reduce our carbon
impact, and/or offset accordingly to achieve net zero. As a
majority Scope 3 organisation, we have embraced a hybrid
approach, tackling emissions reduction while leveraging a
strong offset strategy in order to balance our impact.

Offsetting our footprint is a necessary step for PEXA.
Acknowledging that not all offsets are created equal, we are
committed to investing in projects that provide high value
to the environment and community, are onshore where
possible, and meet regulatory standards. We will do our due
diligence to ensure every dollar is contributing to building a
sustainable future for generations to come. We are proud
of our environmental position and look forward to the
journey ahead.

InFY22, we offset 25% of our FY21 emissions profile by
investing in Australian Carbon Credit Units (ACCUs) through
the Nyaliga Fire Project.

The Nyaliga Fire Project aims to reduce carbon emissions
by up to 40% through indigenous fire management
practices. PEXA's investment in ACCUs created by this
project will help protect the ecological habitat of local plants
and wildlife, facilitate access and connection to country

for traditional custodians and their families, and support
the sustainability of ongoing fire management in the area,
delivering economic benefits to the local community.



Social impact - how we’re giving back
to the community

For PEXA, making animpact is about collaborating with
community-based partners to positively shape the lives of
our people and those in our communities who need it most.
It makes sense that PEXA'’s first shared value partnership
is with Homes for Homes. After all, PEXA spends its days
focused on getting people into their homes, and tackling
homelessness is an important and necessary extension

of that work.

Homes for Homes is a social enterprise - backed by

The Big Issue - that aims to help end homelessness in
Australia through the creation of sustainable and affordable
housing. This is done primarily through donations, where
property owners choose to contribute 0.1% of the sale price
of the property when it sells. The funds are pooled and
disbursed to community housing providers to increase the
supply of homes to those in need.

PEXA and Homes for Homes began working together

in 2016. Between 2021 and 2022, PEXA has granted
$250,000 to Homes for Homes via a national grant
disbursement program that is designed to help increase
housing supply for those who need it most.
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In March 2022, Homes for Homes announced the recipients
from the most recent grant funding round in which PEXA
contributed to. We feel privileged to play a role in this
process and are humbled by the incredible organisations
and their initiatives that will impact the lives of so many
vulnerable Australians.

Grant funding recipients:

Venture Housing Company in Johnston, Northern
Territory received $70,000 to purchase and convert an
existing privately rented three-bedroom property into
affordable housing for low-income earners who are in
housing stress in the private rental market

City Ventures Townsville, Queensland received
$50,300 to upgrade existing accommodation to enable
young people to build their capability in long-term
self-sufficiency and independent living skills as they
re-engage in the community

Coast2Bay Housing Group in Nambour, Queensland
received $18,179 to increase the standard of living
for ten women over 55 who will benefit from more
affordable rental costs.

The next round of funding will be allocated in New South
Wales and Western Australia, with recipients to be
announced in late 2022.
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Our growing relationship with SisterWorks

SisterWorks is a not-for-profit focussed on empowering
female refugees, asylum seekers and migrants by
generating work and entrepreneurship opportunities.

In 2021, PEXA hosted a community hack day, where
PEXArians designed solutions for six of SisterWorks’
business challenges. In 2022 we have continued to support
the implementation and solution design through skills-
based volunteering.

The journey to reconciliation

As part of the community, it is critical that Australian
businesses commit to the national reconciliation journey.
There are opportunities for PEXA to positively contribute
given the reach of our network and our purpose which, like
reconciliation, is connected to themes of property and land.

PEXA has committed to developing and implementing

an Indigenous Engagement Strategy, focused on
employment, procurement and community, which will drive
our contribution towards this important national journey.
We are also a supporter of the Uluru Statement from the
Heart and believe a First Nations Voice to Parliament
enshrined in the Constitution, and the establishment of a
Makarrata Commission for the purpose of treaty-making
and truth-telling are critical first steps.



Ethical governance

To build a better future that delivers lasting value, our ESG
approach must be integrated through our business strategy
as well as our enterprise risk management system. We aim
to capture material risks and opportunities, monitoring both
progress and risk mitigation.

Responsible sourcing

By having the right processes, policies and procedures
in place, we ensure that we're never complacent in our
approach to sourcing and partnerships. Our values sit at
the heart of how we operate, and this incorporates our
extended network of partners and suppliers.

We are committed to educating our organisation and taking
proactive action on the reality of modern slavery risks.

We take our role in responsible sourcing seriously and take
pride in disclosing our progress publicly.
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Evaluating our impact

GRESB 5 star rated organisation
Scoring 92/100in 2021

As members of the Global ESG Benchmark for Real Assets
(GRESB), PEXA completes a GRESB assessment each
year to ensure our progress is reviewed against global
sustainability standards and we're consistently building

on our commitments.

Volunteering

Volunteering brings ordinary people together to do
extraordinary things. We're committed to giving back to
our communities and empowering employees to dedicate
time to organisations closest to their heart. To connect
PEXArians with more than 1,500 volunteer and fundraising
opportunities we've partnered with GoodCompany, our
Workplace Giving platform.

We are so proud of our collective community impact across
FY22. This year our teams have participated in monthly
volunteering opportunities, team building activities,
incorporated community efforts, and more than $50,000
was fundraised by PEXArians and our members through
dollar matching campaigns, including:

Vinnies CEO sleepout - Glenn King raised $9,558,
which will enable Vinnies to deliver vital services like
support programs, beds and meals, night vans and
mental health support

Flood relief in NSW and Queensland - to support those
affected by the devastating flooding in early 2022,

our network helped us raise $30,000 for the Red Cross.
Our local teams got involved with clean-up efforts,
engaging with the communities and our members

most impacted

Ukraine humanitarian aid - we raised more than $7,000

to support the UN with humanitarian aid in the wake of
the outbreak of war.
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Table 2: Statutory financial results

FY22 \%

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
Revenue 279.8 221.0 27% 246.9 13%
PEXA Exchange EBITDA 152.7 116.9 31% 126.3 21%
EBITDA 1071 94.4 13% 75.6 42%
NPAT 219 (11.8) n.m (2.5) n.m
NPATA 61.2 27.8 120% 37.0 65%

11 Statutory NPAT Result

The Group reported a statutory profit after tax of $21.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2022, up $33.7 million from
the ($11.8) million loss in the previous year. Statutory revenue and cost of sales movements were in line with the pro
forma movements explained in section 1.5. Expense movements are in line with the pro forma movements explained in
sections 1.6,1.8 and 1.9 plus the movements in offer cost, public company costs and MEP close out costs explained in
section1.3.

1.2 Pro forma NPAT Result

Pro forma NPAT of $38.0 million was up $42.9 million from the FY21 loss of ($4.9) million, and 94% ahead of the Prospectus
forecast of $19.6 million.

The pro forma adjustments for FY22 and FY21 are reconciled to the statutory result in Table 3. The driver of higher NPAT
against the pro forma result for FY21 was primarily increased EBITDA together with lower interest expense following the
repayment of a Shareholder Loan in place pre-IPO.
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1.3 Reconciliation from pro forma to Statutory EBITDA and NPAT

Table 3: Reconciliation of statutory to pro forma NPAT and EBITDA

FY22 %

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M:; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
Statutory EBITDA 107.1 94.4 13% 75.6 42%
Offer costs 1 24.0 8.2 192% 325 (26%)
Incremental public company costs 2 - (6.5) n.m - n.m
MEP close out costs 3 (0.6) 57 n.m (0.6) 0%
Pro Forma EBITDA 130.5 101.8 28% 107.6 21%
Statutory NPAT 219 (11.8) n.m (2.5) n.m
Offer costs 1 24.0 8.2 192% 325 (26%)
Incremental public company costs 2 - (6.5) n.m - n.m
MEP close-out costs 3 (0.6) 57 n.m (0.6) 0%
Tax effect of adjustments 4 (7.2) (0.5) n.m (9.8) (26%)
Pro Forma NPAT 38.0 (4.9) n.m 19.6 94%

1. Total transaction costs relating to the IPO were estimated at the time of the IPO to be $50.4 million, of which $8.5 million (before tax)
was directly attributed to the issue of new Shares and was offset against equity raised in the Offer. The remaining $41.9 million (before
tax) relates to the sale of existing Shares by the Selling Shareholders and is treated as an expense (within Offer costs), incurred across
FY21,FY22 and post FY22. FY22 offer costs were lower than Prospectus forecast due to the final structure of the IPO resulting in lower
underwriting fees than forecast.

2. Incremental public company costs represent an estimate of the additional costs PEXA will incur as a public company. The additional public
company costs include additional audit, tax and legal costs, insurance costs, Board costs, investor relations, listing fees, share registry fees,
annual general meeting and annual report costs. These pro forma adjustments have been applied retrospectively to the FY21 results but
were included in the statutory resultin FY22.

3. The Management Equity Plan (MEP) was established in January 2020 with the first grantissued in July 2020. As a result of the Offer, the
MEP vesting was accelerated, resulting in $5.7 million of incremental cost recorded in the Statutory Income Statement in FY21. Taking this
pro forma adjustment into account, the pro forma FY21 and FY22 Income Statements reflect the ongoing cost of the MEP in FY21 and FY22
as though the Offer had not occurred.

4. Represents theincome tax effect of pro forma adjustments of Notes 1-2.

1.4 Pro forma NPATA Result

NPATA considers and adjusts for the large amount of non-cash amortisation of acquired intangibles that is reflected in

NPAT. Pro forma NPATA was $77.3 million, up $42.7 million (123%) from the FY21 result of $34.7 million, and 31% ahead of
the Prospectus forecast of $59.2 million. Like NPAT, the driver of higher NPATA against the pro forma result for FY21 was
primarily increased EBITDA alongside lower interest expense following the repayment of a Shareholder Loan in place pre-IPO.
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1.5 Pro forma Revenue, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

Table 4: Pro forma revenue, cost of sales and gross profit

FY22 v

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
Revenue 279.8 221.0 27% 246.9 13%
Cost of sales (34.5) (29.3) (18%) (32.0) (8%)
Gross profit 245.2 191.7 28% 214.9 14%
Gross margin % 87.7% 86.7% 0.9% 87.0% 0.6%

Note: Revenue and Cost of Sales for FY22 and FY21 are identified in the statutory financial report Statement of Comprehensive Income.

PEXA’s pro forma FY22 gross profit grew 28% from FY21, driven by a 27% increase in revenue and an 18% increase in cost
of sales.

PEXA’s pro forma FY22 revenue grew 27% from FY21, driven by:

Market volumes increasing by 0.50 million transactions, or 12%, from 4.22 millionin FY21 to 4.72 millionin FY22,
which equates to an increase in revenues of $26.9 million

PEXA’'s market share increasing by 7% of the total addressable market, resulting in 4.05 million PEXA Exchange
transactions completed in FY22, an uplift of 0.72 million on the 3.33 million PEXA Exchange transactionsin FY21.
This equates to a revenue increase of $22.5 million

Average pro forma revenue per PEXA Exchange transaction increasing from $65.74 in FY21 to $68.27 in FY22 (4%),
which equates to a revenue increase of $8.4 million.

The increase in pro forma cost of sales of $5.2 million, or 18%, from $29.3 million in FY21 to $34.5 million in FY22, was
driven by the PEXA Exchange transaction volume growth during the period. The average pro forma cost of sales per
transaction decreased from $8.82in FY21to $8.52 in FY22 and pro forma gross margin percentage increased slightly
from 86.7% in FY21t0 87.7% in FY22.

PEXA’s pro forma FY22 gross profit was 14% above Prospectus forecast, driven by a 13% increase in revenue and 8%
increase in cost of sales.

The 13% outperformance in pro forma revenue compared to Prospectus forecast was driven by:

Market volumes increasing by 0.58 million transactions, or 14%, from 4.14 million in the Prospectus forecast to
4.72 millionin FY22, which equates to an increase in revenues of $33.7 million

PEXA’s market share increasing by 2% of the total addressable market, resulting in 4.05 million PEXA Exchange
transactions completed in FY22, an uplift of 0.57 million on the 3.48 million PEXA Exchange transactions in the
Prospectus forecast. This equates to a revenue increase of $4.9 million

Average pro forma revenue per PEXA Exchange transaction decreasing from $70.22 in the Prospectus forecast to
$68.27 in FY22, which equates to a revenue decrease of $6.8 million. This was driven by a higher than forecast mix of
lower-revenue refinancing transactions compared to higher-revenue transfer transactions.

The $2.5 million, or 8%, increase in pro forma cost of sales from $32.0 million in the Prospectus forecast to $34.5 million in

FY22 was driven by the PEXA Exchange transaction volume growth during the period offset by lower costs per transaction.
The average pro forma cost of sales per transaction decreased from $9.19 in the Prospectus forecast to $8.52 in FY22 and
pro forma gross margin percentage increased slightly from 87.0% in the Prospectus forecast to 87.7% in FY22.
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1.6 Pro forma Operating Expenses

Table 5: Pro forma operating expenses

FY22 v

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M:; Year ended 30 June v FY21 Forecast Forecast
Product design and development (25.9) (23.2) (12%) (24.3) (7%)
Sales and marketing (19.6) (20.1) 3% (22.6) 13%
General and administration (47.1) (38.0) (24%) (41.8) (13%)
Operating Expenses (92.6) (81.3) (14%) (88.6) (4%)

Note: Pro forma operating expenses reflects statutory amounts included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income adjusted for offer costs,
incremental public company costs (in FY21) and MEP close out costs noted in section 1.3 above. Total pro forma operating expenses can
be reconciled to Resource costs and other operating costs included in the Segment result table in Note 5 of the financial statements.

PEXA’s pro forma FY22 operating expenses were 14% higher than FY21 and were 4% above Prospectus forecast.

Theincrease in pro forma operating expenses from prior year was primarily driven by:

Pro forma product design and development expenses increasing by $2.7 million, or 12%, from $23.2 million in FY21
to $25.9 million in FY22, primarily due to increased resource expenses to bolster architecture, cloud, cyber, APl and
management capabilities to enhance the technology underpinning the PEXA Exchange

Pro forma sales and marketing expenses decreasing by $0.5 million, or 3%, from $20.1 million in FY21 to $19.6 million
in FY22, due to areduced spend on travel and customer events as a result of COVID-19 restrictions

Pro forma general and administration expenses increasing by $9.1 million, or 24%, from $38.0 million in FY21 to
$47.1 millionin FY22, driven by increased employee costs and advisory fees to support group expansion, LTIP-related
costs, higher insurance premiums and advisory fees relating to regulatory environment changes.

The increase in pro forma operating expenses compared to Prospectus forecast was primarily driven by:

Pro forma product design and development expenses increasing by $1.6 million, or 7%, from $24.3 million in the
Prospectus forecast to $25.9 million in FY22, primarily driven by increased resource expense as PEXA brought-forward
investment in capability, particularly in API, cloud, cyber and requisite management personnel

Pro forma sales and marketing expenses decreasing by $3.0 million, or 13%, from $22.6 million in the Prospectus
forecast to $19.6 million in FY22, primarily driven by lower than anticipated resource costs alongside lower travel and
entertainment with COVID-19 continuing to reduce business-as-usual spend

Pro forma general and administration expenses increasing by $5.3 million, or 13%, from $41.8 million in the Prospectus
forecast to $47.1 million in FY22, driven by increased employee costs supporting PEXA’s expansionary activities,
advisory fees in relation to regulatory environment changes in the domestic market, higher insurance premiums and
LTIP-related costs.
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1.7 Pro forma PEXA Exchange EBITDA

Table 6: Pro forma PEXA Exchange EBITDA

FY22 v

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
Gross Profit 245.2 191.7 28% 2149 14%
Operating Expenses (92.6) (81.3) (14%) (88.6) (4%)
PEXA Exchange EBITDA 152.7 110.4 38% 126.3 21%
PEXA Exchange EBITDA Margin 54.6% 50.0% 4.6% 51.2% 3.4%

Note: Gross Profit for FY22 and FY21is identified in the statutory financial report Statement of Comprehensive Income. Further detail on
operating expenses is noted at table 5.

As well as EBITDA (see section 1.8), PEXA also reports PEXA Exchange EBITDA and PEXA Exchange EBITDA margin, as
management considers that PEXA Exchange EBITDA and PEXA Exchange EBITDA margin better reflect the operating
performance and cash generation potential of PEXA's core business prior to the impact of project and related expansion
costs and non-PEXA Exchange related costs.

PEXA’s pro forma FY22 PEXA Exchange EBITDA was $152.7 million, up 38% against the FY21 pro forma result, reflecting
28% gross profit growth (see section 1.5) combined with a 14% growth in operating expenses (see section 1.6).

PEXA’s pro forma FY21 PEXA Exchange EBITDA was 21% above the FY22 Prospectus forecast, reflecting a 14% gross
profitimprovement (see section 1.5) combined with 4% higher operating expenses (see section 1.6).

This resulted in a year-on-year improvement in PEXA Exchange EBITDA Margin (PEXA Exchange EBITDA as a percentage
of revenue) of 4.6 percentage points to 54.6%, 3.4 percentage points above FY22 Prospectus forecast.
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1.8 Pro forma EBITDA

Table 7: Pro forma EBITDA

FY22 v

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M:; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
PEXA Exchange EBITDA 152.7 1104 38% 126.3 21%
Project and expansion related costs (19.7) (6.5) (201%) (18.2) (8%)
Other non Exchange-related costs (2.6) (2.1) (23%) (0.6) (322%)
Total non Exchange-related costs (22.2) (8.6) (158%) (18.8) (18%)
EBITDA 130.5 101.8 28% 107.6 21%

Note: Project and expansions related and other costs not attributable to the PEXA Exchange segment include costs relating to new business
initiatives that have not generated material revenue in the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. Other non PEXA Exchange-related costs
include redundancy and restructure expenses, foreign exchange movements and debt amortisation expenses.

PEXA'’s pro forma FY22 EBITDA was $130.5 million, up 28% against the FY21 pro forma result, and 21% above the FY22
Prospectus forecast.

The growth from FY21 reflects 38% growth in PEXA Exchange EBITDA (see section 1.7) and 158% growth in project,
expansion and other non Exchange-related costs. The variance to Prospectus forecast reflects 21% higher PEXA Exchange
EBITDA and 18% higher project, expansion and other non Exchange-related costs.

PEXA's pro forma FY22 total non-Exchange related costs were up 158% from FY21 and were 18% above FY22 Prospectus
forecast.

Project and expansion related costs increased by $13.2 million, or 201%, from $6.5 million in FY21 to $19.7 million in FY22
as expenditure on new business initiatives increased. International expansion expenditure increased by $7.7 million, from
$4.5 millionin FY21 to $12.2 million in FY22, while PEXA Insights spend in FY21 increased by $4.4 million, from $2.0 million
in FY21to $6.4 million FY22.

Other non-PEXA Exchange costs increased by $0.5 million from $2.1 million in FY21 to $2.6 million in FY22, driven by the
impact of losses on investments and unrealised foreign exchange losses.

Project and expansion related costs were slightly higher than Prospectus forecast, with International expansion costs
$1.2 million higher than forecast and PEXA Insights spend $0.2 million higher.

Other non-PEXA Exchange costs were $2.0 million higher than Prospectus forecast, driven by higher than forecast non-
recurring professional fees and impact of losses on investments and unrealised foreign exchange losses, neither of which
were forecast in the Prospectus.



42 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

Management Commentary

1.9 Pro forma other expenses below EBITDA

Table 8: Pro forma other expenses below EBITDA

FY22 v

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
EBITDA 130.5 101.8 28% 107.6 21%
Depreciation (2.5) (2.4) (3%) (2.1) (19%)
Amortisation (9.7) (7.1) (38%) (9.3) (5%)
EBITA 118.3 92.3 28% 96.2 23%
Acquired amortisation (56.2) (56.6) 1% (56.4) 0%
EBIT 62.1 35.8 74% 39.8 56%
Net finance income/(expense) (5.8) (36.5) n.m (7.4) 21%
NPBT 56.3 (0.7) n.m 324 74%
Income tax benefit/(expense) (18.3) (4.2) n.m (12.7) (43%)
NPAT 38.0 (4.9) n.m 19.6 94%

Note: Other expenses below EBITDA primarily relate to depreciation and amortisation of capitalised R&D, amortisation of acquired
intangibles, funding costs and tax.

Depreciation was $0.1 million or 3% higher than FY21, and $0.4 million or 19% higher than Prospectus forecast, driven by
higher levels of capitalised fixed assetsin FY22.

Amortisation increased by $2.6 million, or 38%, from FY21, and was 5% higher than Prospectus forecast, due to increased
levels of capitalised research and development.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles was in line with FY21 and Prospectus forecast.

Net finance income/(expense) was a cost of $5.8 million in FY22 compared to $36.5 million in FY21 due to the repayment
of shareholder loans that accrued interest during FY21. These were replaced with external debt from 30 June 2021. It
was $1.6 million lower than Prospectus forecast due to a lower than expected interest rate environment during the first
nine months of FY22.

Income tax expense of $18.3 million was up $14.1 million from FY21 due to the higher level of net profit before tax. It was up
43% from Prospectus forecast also due to higher levels of net profit before tax.
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2. Balance Sheet and Cash Flow

2.1 Balance sheet

Table 9: Summary balance sheet

Actual Statutory

A$M; As at 30 Jun 22 30 Jun 21
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 75.4 515
Other current assets 42.9 331
Total current assets 118.3 84.6

Non-current assets

Intangible assets & goodwill 1,500.0 1,517.3
Other non-current assets 44.0 11.2
Total non-current assets 1,544.0 1,528.5
Total assets 1,662.3 1,613.1

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 495 499
Shareholder loans — 193.0
Other current liabilities 8.6 6.7
Total current liabilities 58.1 249.6

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 298.0 2974
Other non-current liabilities 41.5 34.3
Total non-current liabilities 339.5 3317
Total liabilities 397.6 581.3
Net assets 1,264.7 1,031.8
Equity

Contributed equity 1,268.4 1,058.2
Reserves 8.5 7.6
Accumulated losses (12.1) (34.0)

Total equity 1,264.7 1,031.8
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The movements in the audited statutory FY22 and FY21 balances are as follows:

The cash balance increased by $24 million due to the business’ strong cash generation offset by investments made in
Landchecker and Elula during the year

The net current asset position (current assets less current liabilities) is $60 million positive at 30 June 2022. It was
negative on 30 June 2021 due to $193 million of shareholder loans remaining post the 30 June IPO refinancing. These
were repaid from the proceeds of the primary raise on 1 July 2021

Intangible assets have reduced in FY22 due to continued amortisation of existing balances offset by capital spend on
both the PEXA Exchange and PEXA International platforms

External debt of $300 million (less $2 million of debt raising fees) was put in place on 30 June 2021 to fund the
repayment of shareholder loans and provide PEXA with an appropriate post-IPO capital structure. It remains in place at
30 June 2022

Contributed equity increased due to funds received relating to PEXA’s primary issuance on IPO.

2.2 Pro forma cash flow

Table 10: Pro forma cash flow

FY22 %

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M; Year ended 30 June Forecast Forecast
EBITDA 130.5 101.8 28% 107.6 21%
Non-cash itemsin EBITDA 0.6 0.6 5% 0.6 0%
Changes in working capital (10.0) 10.8 n.m 0.8 n.m
Operating cash flow before capex 1211 113.2 7% 109.0 11%
Acquisition of intangible assets (50.0) (22.6) 121% (52.1) (4%)
Acquisition of PP&E (2.0) (0.5) n.m (1.5) 31%
Free cash flow before financing and tax 69.1 90.1 (23%) 55.3 25%
Interest received 0.5 0.7 (23%) 0.5 5%
Interest paid (5.8) (3.7) 59% (6.9) (16%)
Payment of finance lease liabilities (1.8) (2.1) (18%) (1.9) (8%)
Free cash flow 62.0 84.9 (27 %) 47.0 32%
FCF conversion (before financing & tax) 53% 89% (36%) 51% 2%

Note: Cash Flow pro forma adjustments were made to statutory cash flows to reflect the cash impact of the pro forma adjustments including
offer costs, incremental public company costs (in FY21) and MEP close out costs noted in section 1.3 above.
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Pro forma cash conversion (before financing and tax) in FY22 was 53%, below FY21 but slightly ahead of FY21 Prospectus
forecast, due to movements in free cash flow.

Net pro forma free cash flow decreased by $22.9 million, or 27%, from FY21, but is up $15.0 million (32%) from Prospectus
forecast, driven by higher levels of EBITDA offset by negative movements in net working capital.

Change in net working capital is $20.8 million unfavourable to FY21, driven by the timing of IPO-related payments, primarily
insurance prepayments. Itis $10.8 million unfavourable against Prospectus forecast, again driven by the timing of cash-
payments primarily relating to insurance.

The majority of capital expenditure spend is Research and Development (“acquisition of intangible assets”), which made up
$50.0 million of $52.0 million total capex in FY22 (95%) and accounted for $27.4 million of the $28.9 million capex growth
year on year. It includes R&D capex for the core exchange and the International, Insights and Ventures growth initiatives.

Pro forma interest paid is cash interest payments on external debt.

2.3 Debt Levels

Table 11: Pro forma net debt

FY22 v

Prospectus Prospectus

A$M:; As at 30 Jun 22 30 Jun 21 Change Forecast Forecast
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 300.0 300.0 0%
Cash and cash equivalents (75.4) (51.5) 46%
Net debt 224.6 248.5 (10%)
Pro forma net debt/EBITDA 1.47x 2.25x 0.78x

Note: Interest bearing loans and borrowings and cash and cash equivalents for FY22 and FY21 are identified in the statutory financial report.

Pro forma net debt to PEXA Exchange EBITDA ratio was 1.47x at 30 June 2022, compared to 2.25x at 30 June 2021, due
to a10% reduction in net debt and a 38% increase in PEXA Exchange EBITDA (see section 1.7). The reduction in net debt
reflected the $23.9 million increase in cash balance. There was no 30 June 2022 balance sheet forecast in the Prospectus.
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Directors’
Report

Corporate information

PEXA Group Limited was incorporated on 4 October 2018. The consolidated financial statements of PEXA Group Limited
and its subsidiaries (PEXA or collectively, the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2022, were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 26 August 2022.

PEXA Group Limited (the parent company) is a public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, and listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) under the stock ticker “PXA”.

A description of the Group’s operations and of its principal activities is included in the Operating and Finance Review below.

Directors

The Directors’ backgrounds and experience are listed below of those who held office during or since the end of the year.
Unless otherwise stated they held office for the full year.

Mark is an experienced director of listed companies, currently serving as a non-executive
director of Latitude Group Holdings Limited (ASX: LFS) since April 2021. He is also
currently serving as Chairperson of QBE Insurance Group Limited’s Australian and New
Zealand subsidiaries and Chairperson of TAL Services Limited. Mark has previously held
multiple directorships at NAB Group subsidiaries, including Clydesdale Bank Plc and
JBWere.

Mark served as Executive Director of Finance for NAB Group, CFO and Head of Strategy
and M&A for Citigroup’s global wealth management business in New York, and Associate
Director of Australian Ratings (now Standard & Poor’s). He also has 15 years of experience

Mark Joiner

(Independent as a management consultant at Boston Consulting Group including as Senior Vice
Chairperson, President, Global Head of Corporate Development.
appointed 3 May 2021)

Mark is a Chartered Accountant and holds an MBA from the Melbourne Business School.

Johnis currently one of Link Group’s two nominee directors on the PEXA Board.

Prior to listing, John served as the Chair of PEXA Group Risk Management &
Audit Committee and a member of the PEXA Group Remuneration, Nomination
& People Committee.

Johnis currently a Non-Executive Director of Specialised Container Holdings Pty Ltd.

John has over 30 years’ commercial, mergers and acquisition, accounting and financial
John Hawkins experience from various roles with Optus, Perpetual Limited and KPMG (Australia and the
United Kingdom). For 18 years until his executive retirement in 2019, John was the Chief

(Non-executive ) . ) .
Financial Officer of Link Group.

Director, appointed

4 October 2018) Johnis a Chartered Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Science (Computer Science) and a
Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Queensland.










50 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

Directors’ Report

Joint Company Secretaries

Andrew Metcalfe
(appointed 13 September 2021)

Andrew is an experienced professional independent company secretary and governance adviser with over 25 years
experience providing company secretarial services to ASX listed companies. Andrew holds a Bachelor of Business from
Swinburne University. He is also a CPA, a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia and a Graduate of the Australian

Institute of Directors.

Naomi Dawson
(appointed 24 February 2022)

Naomiis an experienced lawyer and company secretary. Naomijoined PEXA in 2014 and holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons)
and a Bachelor of Commerce (majoring in accounting) from Monash University. She also holds a Master of Laws from

the University of Melbourne and a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance from the Governance Institute of
Australia. Naomi is also a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia.

lan Gilmour
(resigned 13 September 2021)

Registered office

Level 16, Tower 4
727 Collins Street
Docklands Vic 3008

Auditors

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne Vic 3000

Directors’ Meetings

The number of meetings of the Board of Directors and of each Board committee held during the financial year and the
number of meetings attended by each Director were:

Remuneration, Nomination and

Board of Directors Audit and Risk Committee People Committee
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
Director attend Attended attend Attended attend Attended
M Joiner 12 12 7 7 7 7
JHawkins 12 12 7 7 - 7
G King 12 12 -* 7 -* 7
K Ferguson 12 12 7 7 7 7
M Willis 12 12 7 7 7 7
V Bhatia 12 11 - 7 7 7
P Rickard 12 12 7 7 -* 5
H Silver 2 2 2 2 2 2

*

All Directors have a standing invitation to attend Committee meetings and regularly attend meetings of Committees
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Members acting on the committees of the Board are:

Audit and Risk Committee Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee

M Willis (Chair) K Ferguson (Chair)
M Joiner M Joiner

J Hawkins M Willis

K Ferguson V Bhatia

P Rickard H Silver

H Silver

Directors’ Interests in Shares

Directors’ relevant interests in shares of the Company (direct and indirect) as at the date of this report are detailed below:

Ordinary

Shares of the Performance
Director Company Rights
M Joiner 29,187 -
JHawkins 5,837 -
G King 1,155,637 58,176
K Ferguson 14,593 -
M Willis 14,593 -
V Bhatia 5,837 -
P Rickard 8,837 -
H Silver - -

Significant changes in the state of affairs and future developments

Refer to the Principal Activities and Review of Operations sections for information on the significant changes in the

state of affairs of the Group and for likely developments and future prospects of the Group. Further information on likely
developments in the operations of the Group has not been included in the Director’s report because the Director’s believe it
would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.
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Operating and Financial Review
The purpose of this sectionis to:
Provide an overview of our business model;
Discuss the core PEXA Exchange, growth initiatives and associated risks; and

Provide a review of the group’s financial condition.

1. Principal Activities

Conceived and established more than a decade ago to enable the phasing out of inefficient paper-based property
settlements, PEXA today operates the leading digital property settlements platform in Australia (the PEXA Exchange) and
is pursuing growth options to capture additional domestic and international opportunities.

PEXA Exchange is Australia’s leading Electronic Lodgement Network. It is a robust, resilient, cloud-based platform that
connects financial institutions, practitioner firms, the Reserve Bank of Australia, Land Titles Offices and State Revenue
Offices to enable the secure, reliable and efficient digital lodgement and settlement of property transactions. The PEXA
Exchange currently operates in New South Wales, Victoria, Western Australia, South Australia, Queensland and the ACT.

2. PEXA Exchange Business Model

The PEXA Exchange generates revenue based on the volume and lodgement type of transactions. Fees are payable

on completion of settlement, with PEXA Exchange’s transaction revenue collected from the proceeds of settlement.
PEXA anticipates that the growth in PEXA Exchange revenue in future years may be impacted by four key drivers, taking in
to account the risks noted in section 4:

Market volume of billable transactions: The number of property transactions and refinancing is a function of the broader
property market, which is largely influenced by population size, household size, technological innovation, government
stimulus and other economic conditions.

Market share: The PEXA Exchange currently captures approximately 86 per cent of all potential billable transactions

in Australia. Digital property settlements are available in six jurisdictions in Australia (New South Wales, Victoria,
Queensland, Western Australia, South Australia and the ACT). Future market share growth will come from additional
digital adoption in Queensland & the ACT, enhanced digital settlement coverage in Western Australia and enablement of
new jurisdictions over time. Market share may be impacted by competition.

Pricing: PEXA Exchange’s pricing policy provides for price adjustments for inflation and for regulatory and input
cost changes.

Customer tools: PEXA Exchange has a number of customer tools (PEXA Plus, PEXA Projects, PEXA Planner,
PEXA Key and PEXA Tracker) to assist and enhance Subscribers’ interaction with the PEXA Exchange.

3. Additional Strategic Growth Initiatives

To date, PEXA has invested significantly in the PEXA Exchange and the ecosystem around it. PEXA continues to invest
in further enhancing the platform through new integrations, functionality and features while attracting new users by
developing customer tools to enhance the PEXA Exchange and support customer experience and engagement.

While there remain clear growth opportunities as the nationwide adoption of digital property settlement continues,
PEXA's visionis to be an international leader in digital property settlements and to leverage its experience, expertise, and
proprietary technology to provide innovative services to a range of participants across the property industry and other
stakeholders in Australia and internationally.

PEXA has arange of opportunities for it to expand its business into new products and services and to expand its digital
property settlements platform knowledge in new geographies. PEXA is pursuing these potential opportunities through
three initiatives, PEXA International, PEXA Insights and PX Ventures.

PEXA International: As a leading operational digital property settlements platform that completes both lodgement
and settlement, PEXA will seek to bring digital property settlement solutions to other jurisdictions, particularly those
with similar Torrens land title systems, based on PEXA’s experience in the Australian market in the development of
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those solutions. PEXA is working with technology build partner ThoughtWorks to develop an “international” version

of its PEXA Exchange platform that is intended to provide a digital property settlement solution for new jurisdictions.
PEXA has chosen the UK (through England and Wales) as the first jurisdiction for its targeted international expansion.

It has established a management presence in the UK, has successfully built the 7th net settlement payment scheme to
clear through the Bank Of England, and seven UK lenders have successfully completed testing on the PEXA settlement
payment solution. Lenders Hinckley & Rugby Building Society and Shawbrook Bank will commence transacting
remortgages via the PEXA UK platform by the end of calendar year 2022, with further lenders expected to be
announced and onboarded in subsequent waves.

PEXA Insights: The PEXA Insights initiative stems from the recognition that the wealth of property and transaction data
captured through the PEXA Exchange constitutes a uniquely comprehensive near real-time data set. The PEXA Insights
team is developing products and services that appropriately leverage PEXA's property data, together with third party
data, to generate innovative data solutions for this market. It is also investing in programmatic M&A to complement
organic with inorganic growth. The first two PEXA Insights investments, Landchecker and Elula, were completed in the
year ended 30 June 2022.

PX Ventures: PX Ventures aims to build on PEXA’s digital and industry experience, innovative and entrepreneurial
culture and established relationships to develop new business opportunities with partners for consumers, businesses
and governments across the property sector. Via PX Ventures, PEXA is also likely to enter into partnerships and joint
ventures and invest in other businesses, with the first investments completed in the year ended 30 June 2022.

To date, PEXA has commenced the investment in its team, capabilities, and infrastructure to support these potential
strategic growth initiatives and address the possible available market opportunities. PEXA will leverage insights and
experience from previous product offerings and plans to invest in these strategic growth initiatives in the future.

4. Proactively Managed Risks

PEXA actively identifies, assesses and manages risks consistent with its risk management framework. These processes
are annually reviewed by an independent expert as part of PEXA’s obligations as an Electronic Lodgement Network
Operator (ELNQO). The list below is not a comprehensive list but summarises some of PEXA’s key risks and the way they
are managed.

Evolving regulatory environment: PEXA operates its business within a complex and evolving regulatory environment
in Australia. PEXA is likely to face new and evolving regulation as it expands its products and services as well as
expanding into international jurisdictions. Changes to laws and regulations, or their interpretation and application, can
be unpredictable and are outside of PEXA’s control.

PEXA proactively engages with its regulators across Australia and has commenced engagement in the UK. PEXA has a
dedicated team led by a Chief Regulatory Officer which participates across a range of policy and implementation forums,
working with regulators to identify issues and shape solutions. PEXA regularly makes formal submissions and participates in
working groups to contribute and optimise outcomes for our subscribers, their clients and our shareholders.

Competition, interoperability and market structure risks: Establishing interoperability may subject PEXA to additional
risks, including the risk of disruption to its normal operations through making the necessary changes to its platform and
processes, additional implementation costs, and the diversion of the time and attention of management and technical
staff. It may also introduce new competition risks, systems availability and cyber security risks to PEXA. PEXA’s market
position is also affected by general competitive factors. The market in Australia for digital property settlement services
is rapidly evolving and PEXA may face additional competition.

Governments in Australia are advancing a multi-year agenda to establish interoperability as a means to intensify
competition. PEXA is playing a constructive role, focussed on ensuring continuity of secure and stable e-conveyancing
services for our subscribers. PEXA has helped shape the model, develop the technical specifications, advised

on security standards, kept industry informed and made submissions to inform on the development of the new
regulatory framework.

IT and system security risks: Key IT and system security risks include: 1) Cyber security and fraud; 2) Business
disruption and system failures and 3) Reliance on third party technology systems and processes and IT suppliers.
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PEXA has a dedicated cyber security team, led by a Chief information and Security Officer. The team provides a
comprehensive security capability including a dedicated monitoring and operations centre, specification and delivery
of standards and policies, specialised software and hardware, internal education, risk assessment and remediation.
PEXA has business continuity and disaster recovery processes in place to mitigate the impacts of outages from
PEXA suppliers or other network participants. The business continuity and disaster recovery frameworks are annually
reviewed by an independent expert as part of PEXA’s obligations as an ELNO. PEXA also conducts reviews of all

key third party suppliers to identify key dependencies and areas of risk and where possible establishes SLA’s and
governance processes to mitigate the risks.

Financial, business, and economic risks: Key financial, business and economic risks include: 1) Decrease in lodgements due
to the current increasing interest rate environment and impact to general economic conditions; 2) Lower-than-expected use
of PEXA Exchange; 3) Growth initiatives are ineffective, difficult to implement and/or more costly than expected.

PEXA monitors property lead indicators (such as property listings and private sales / auctions) closely to ensure it can
manage the future impact to property settlements. While interest rates are increasing, strong economic fundamentals
including low unemployment rates, high levels of household savings and increasing migration should continue to
support housing transaction volumes. PEXA management and Board monitor the progress of its growth initiatives
with funding for future investment predicated by achieving specific milestones.

5. Review of Operations

See Management Commentary section (page 34) for an update on the Group’s financial position.

Future Developments

Refer to section 3 above for information on the likely developments and future prospects of the Group.

Dividends

No dividends were paid or declared during the year (2021: nil).

Rounding of amounts

Amounts within the directors’ report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (unless otherwise stated) under the option
available to the Group under ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191.

Options over unissued shares

Unissued shares

As at the date of this report and at the reporting date, there were 167,301 unissued ordinary shares under options. Refer to
the remuneration report for further details of the options outstanding for Key Management Personnel (KMP).

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company or any related
body corporate.

Matters subsequent to the end of the year

Acquisition of Slate Analytics Pty Ltd

InJuly 2022, the PEXA Group subsidiary, PEXA Insights, paid FrontierSl $7.0 million to acquire a 70% ownership in a newly
created entity - Slate Analytics Pty Ltd. The investment allows PEXA to partner with the University of NSW and FrontierSl
in providing valuation and dynamic scenario modelling.

Slate Analytics had not traded or operated prior to this investment however it held the intellectual property rights to a
range of Automated Valuations Models valued at $10 million. No other assets or liabilities within Slate Analytics have been
acquired as part of the transaction. The accounting treatment for the investment is ongoing at the date of the financial
statements and additional disclosure will be provided during the year ending 30 June 2023.
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Proposed acquisition of I.D. Consulting Pty Ltd and I.D. (informed decisions) Pty Ltd
(collectively, .id)

On 26 August 2022, the Group announced its subsidiary, PEXA Insights, has entered into an agreement to acquire 100%
of leading Australian grown demographic based consulting group, ID for an initial payment of $20 million.

ID is aland information business that provides demographic and economic data and forecasts at the micro-geographic
level to over 300 local councils across Australia and New Zealand. ID comprises a team of skilled demographic and spatial
analysts, population forecasters, urban economists, industry sector experts, and technology and data management
specialists. Further details in relation to the proposed acquisition are included in the Group’s ASX release regarding ID.

The proposed acquisition of ID will be funded from PEXA’s existing cash reserves and is subject to customary transaction

conditions and approvals. The Group anticipates completion of the proposed acquisition by 30 September 2022, which

is after the authorised date of issue of the Group’s 30 June 2022 financial statements. As a result, details of any final

consideration paid and details of the final fair value of any major classes of assets, liabilities and associated goodwill that

may be acquired are not yet finalised.

No other event or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2022 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:
The Group’s operations in future financial years;

The results of those operations in future financial years; or

The Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Environmental Issues

The Group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or
of a state or territory.

Indemnifying Officers

The Group has entered into Deeds of Indemnity, Insurance and Access with each of the Directors, the Chief Executive
Officer and Company Secretaries. Each deed provides officers with the following:

Aright to access certain Board papers of the Group during the period of their tenure and for a period of seven years
after that tenure ends

Subject to the Corporations Act, an indemnity in respect of liability to persons other than the Group that they may incur
while acting in their capacity as an officer of the Group, except where that liability involves a lack of good faith and for
defending certain legal proceedings, and

The requirement that the Group maintain appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the officer.

No liability has arisen under these indemnities as at the date of this report.

Insurance of Officers

During the financial year, the Group paid a premium to insure the Directors and Officers of the Group. The terms of this
policy prohibit disclosure of the premium paid.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought
against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the
officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful
breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for
them or someone else or to cause detriment to the Group.
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Indemnification of Auditors

To the extent permitted by law, the Group has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms

of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount).
The indemnity does not apply to any loss arising out of any negligent, wrongful or wilful acts or omissions by the auditors.
No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year.

Non-Audit Services
The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to statutory audit duties where the auditor’s

expertise and experience with the Group is essential and will not compromise auditor independence.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young for audit and assurance and non-audit services provided during the
year are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements. The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during
the year and is satisfied these services are compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by
the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

All non-audit services have been reviewed by the PEXA Group Audit and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor.

None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants.

Auditors’ Independence Declaration

The auditors’ independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2022 has been received and can be found on page 57.

Proceedings on Behalf of Group

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings
to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those
proceedings. The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

The Directors’ Report includes the Remuneration Report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Mark Joiner
Independent Chairperson
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2. Introduction

The directors of PEXA Group (PEXA or the Company) present the audited Remuneration Report (the Report) for the
Company and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2022 (FY22). It has been prepared and audited in
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 to ensure it meets best practice remuneration practices for
ASX-listed companies.

The term “remuneration” has been used in this Report, with the same meaning as “compensation” as defined by AASB 124
“Related Party Disclosures”.

This Remuneration Report sets out remuneration information for KMP who had authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company during the 2022 financial year, being each of the Non-Executive
Directors and designated Executives. The use of the term “Executives” in this report is a reference to the Group Managing
Director & Chief Executive Officer (Group MD & CEQ) and certain direct reports during FY22. Refer to Table 1 below for all
individuals comprising PEXA’'s KMP for FY22. All KMP held their positions for the entirety of FY22, unless noted otherwise.

2.1 Key Management Personnel

Table 1: Key Management Personnel

Name Position Held Since

Non-Executive Directors

Mark Joiner Independent Non-Executive Chairperson 3 May 2021

Vivek Bhatia Non-Executive Director and Link Group nominee director 11 June 2021

Dr Kirstin Ferguson Independent Non-Executive Director 11 June 2021

John Hawkins Non-Executive Director and Link Group nominee director 4 October 2018

Paul Rickard Non-Executive Director and Commonwealth Bank of Australia 11 June 2021
nominee director

Helen Silver AO Independent Non-Executive Director 10 May 2022

Melanie Willis Independent Non-Executive Director 11 June 2021

Executive Directors

Glenn King Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 14 October 2019¢

Executives

Richard Moore

Chief Financial Officer

3 February 2020

Simon Smith?

Chief Operations Officer

9 December 2020

1. Glenn King commenced as a director on 3 December 2019
2. Simon Smithis employed part-time on 30.4 working hours per week



3. Executive Remuneration Overview

The key principles of PEXA’s Executive remuneration policy are to:
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Attract, retain and motivate capable and committed employees and directors;

Align the Company’s remuneration policies with the Company’s purpose, values, strategic objectives and risk appetite;

Consistently maintain a ‘pay for performance’ culture within the Company;

Ensure Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which monitor and reward the performance of the Group MD & CEO and other
Executive KMP are measurable, and verifiable, contribute to sustainable value improvement while also permitting agility

and responsiveness to value accretive opportunities that may arise; and

Comply with all relevant legal and regulatory provisions.

In alignment with its remuneration strategy, the Board’s policy on Executive remuneration is that it comprises both a Fixed
Annual Remuneration (FAR) component and “at risk” or performance-related components, Short-Term Incentive (STI) and
Long-Term Incentive (LTI), where a high portion of remuneration is “at risk”. The level of FAR for Executives is benchmarked
against that paid for similar positions at the median of comparator ASX companies.

A summary of the Company’s approach to Executive remuneration for FY22, including performance conditions and their
link to the overall remuneration strategy is set out below:

Fixed Annual
Remuneration (FAR)

Salary and

other benefits
(including statutory
superannuation).

Refer to Section 6.1.1
for more details.

Performance Conditions

Considerations
Scope of individual’s role

Individual’s level of knowledge, skills and
expertise

Company and individual performance

Market benchmarking

Remuneration Strategy/Performance Link

Set to attract, retain and motivate the right
talent to deliver on PEXA’s strategy and
contribute to the Company’s financial and
operational performance.

For the Company’s Executives, the aimis to
set fixed remuneration at market relevant
levels and link any future increases to
individual performance and effectiveness
whilst continuing benchmark against to
market relevance.

Short-Term Incentive
(STI)

Annual incentive
opportunity delivered
100% in cash,

70% in November
2022 and 30%in
November 2023.

Refer to Section 6.1.2
for more details.

Risk ‘gate’

Individual Executives must deliver risk and
audit items (as determined by the Board)
within the agreed timeframes, and risk and
compliance training for the year must be
completed. Failure to do so will resultin zero
STl outcome for an Executive KMP.

To align with the Company’s commitment to
risk mitigation.

Company measures

Generally a maximum of 70% of STl award,
incorporating metrics relevant to an
Executive’s area of influence

Financial (30%)

Member & Customer (40%)
Risk (15%)

People & Innovation (15%)

To ensure robust alignment of performance
with reward for Executives.

Performance conditions are designed

to support the strategic direction of the
Company (the achievement of which is
intended to translate through to shareholder
return) and are clearly defined and
measurable.
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Performance Conditions

Remuneration Strategy/Performance Link

Individual strategic objectives

Generally a maximum of 30% of STl award
aligned to personal strategic objectives.
Examplesinclude:

Personal financial targets

Strategic project initiatives

Key strategic and growth objectives targeted
at delivering ongoing benefit to the Company.

Long-Term Incentive
(LTI)

Three-year incentive
opportunity delivered
through performance
rights.

Refer to Section 6.1.3
for more details

Performance conditions

Distinct categories of performance that are
weighted to align with the Group’s focus over
the three-year period that each tranche of
the plan spans.

Earnings Per Share (EPS) (75%)

Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
(25%)

Performance conditions designed to
encourage Executive KMP to focus on the
key performance drivers which underpin
sustainable growth in shareholder value. The
mix of performance conditions is designed to
ensure the share price growth is supported by
the Company’s EPS, and not market factors
alone.

4. FY22 Company Performance and Relationship to Reward

PEXA’s approach to remuneration is based upon “Reward for Performance”. Individual Executive KMP remuneration is
differentiated based on various measures of Company and individual performance.

The table below sets out information about the Company’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for FY21

and FY22.
Company Performance FY22 FY21
Revenue ($'000) 279,839 221,046
Profit/Loss before tax ($'000) 32,920 (8,092)
Profit/Loss after tax ($'000) 21,851 (11,787)
Basic earnings per share (cents) 12.32 (8.54)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 12.32 (8.54)
Dividends per share - paid during financial year (cents) - -
Share price at 30 June ($) 13.89 -

1. Uponlisting onthe ASX on1July 2021, the share price was $17.13.



PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022 63

41 FY22 Executive KMP Reward Outcomes

1. Whatis the Executive
KMP remuneration
structurein FY22?

Maximum Maximum

STl as % LTl as %

of FAR of FAR

Glenn King (Group MD &CEQ) $925,000 70% 100%
Richard Moore (CFO) $615,000 60% 60%
Simon Smith!(COO0) $384,000 60% 50%

2. Whatisthe FY22
STl payout to
Executive KMP
and why?

Company performance makes up 70% of the Executive KMP scorecard and each
Executive KMP also has a 30% individual performance component. Individual goals are
designed to be challenging and are linked to business strategy.

FY22 Company financial performance resulted in an average of 86% payout of maximum
achievement, as 3 of 4 financial measures were met. Of the other Company performance
conditions, 9 of the 10 were fully met resulting in 86% achievement of maximum for

this component of Company performance. Additional detail on the Group MD & CEQ’s
performance against his FY22 scorecard is included in Section 7.2.

Each Executive KMP also has a 30% individual performance component. Each Executive
KMP’s score out of 30% was as follows: Group MD & CEO (27.5%); CFO (27.5%) and

COO (30%) resulting in total FY22 STl achievements out of the maximums available of:
Group MD & CEO (85.25%); CFO (85.25%) and COO (87.75%). The payments that these
outcomes deliver are outlined in more detail under Sections 4.1 and 7.2.

3. Did the Board exercise
discretion when
considering Executive
KMP awards in FY22?

Where a formulaic outcome of performance metrics is likely to produce a material and
perverse remuneration outcome, or where it is in the best interest of shareholders for the
Board to do so, the Board may consider exercising its discretion in determining awards.
Discretion was not considered in FY22.

4. Were there any
remuneration reductions
as aresult of COVID-19?

PEXA did not seek government assistance in FY22. Given the resilience of the business
and performance in FY22, no remuneration reductions were applied.

1. Simon Smithis employed on a part-time basis. FAR is pro-rated to reflect 30.4 working hours per week.

4.2 Realised Remuneration

In addition to Statutory remuneration included in Section 7.3, Realised Remuneration received by Executive KMPsin FY22
is displayed below. Realised remuneration is a non-statutory measure and includes FAR, non-monetary benefits and STI. No
LTl vested in FY22. Realised Remuneration is included to complement the Statutory Remuneration disclosures toillustrate
the remuneration relating to performance by Executive KMP during the 2022 financial year, and how the Company’s
performance during the year has impacted on these amounts, particularly the STI component.

STl represents initial cash payments earned for FY22 performance (70% of the FY22 total award) and deferred STl for the
FY21 performance (30% of the FY21 total award).

Table 2: 2022 Realised Remuneration

Non-Monetary Cash STI Total Realised

Position FAR Benefits payment Remuneration
Group MD & CEO $925,000 $6,950 $498,378 $1,430,328
CFO $615,000 $6,950 $307,654 $929,604
(e10]0] $405,240! $0 $182,221 $587,461

1. The COO receiveda25% Higher Duties Allowance for 3 months during FY22.
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5. Remuneration Governance

5.1 PEXA’'s Remuneration Principles, Policy and Philosophy

The Board believes that the structure, design and mix of remuneration should, through the alignment of shareholder
interests with those of a motivated and talented Executive KMP, provide shareholders with the best value. At the same time,
the Board recognises that it is important to have a remuneration approach that may be adjusted, as appropriate, to address:

Industry trends and developments, as well as Executive KMP remuneration and good governance practices; and

Feedback from engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders.

In support of this philosophy, PEXA’s remuneration policies are based around two key remuneration principles:

Fairly reward and motivate Executive KMPs having regard to the external market, individual contributions to PEXA and
overall performance of the Company; and

Appropriately align the interests of Executive KMP and Shareholders.

The Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee (the Committee) welcomes discussions with shareholders and key
stakeholders on all remuneration related issues and where appropriate, will take these views into account in formulating
PEXA’s remuneration approach.

How Remuneration Decisions are Made

Remuneration of all KMP is determined by the Board, acting on recommendations made by the Committee.

The Board and the Committee have absolute discretion when considering the awarding and vesting of STl and LTI
opportunities to Executive KMPs. The purpose of preserving this discretion is to allow the Board to ensure remuneration
amounts and structure are at all times appropriate and to prevent any unintended vesting of awards that would arise from a
purely formulaic application of the metrics. Where a formulaic application of the metrics is likely to produce a material and
perverse remuneration outcome, or where it is in the best interests of shareholders for the Board to do so, the Board may
exercise its discretion in determining awards.

The Board is ultimately responsible for recommendations and decisions made by the Committee.

When determining awards for Executive KMP, the Committee seeks to acknowledge material performance improvement
in the period it was achieved where the Committee believes that Executive KMP interests are aligned with shareholders.
Individual Executive KMP do not participate in meetings where their own remuneration is being discussed by the
Committee or Board. The Group MD & CEO provided the Committee with his perspectives on fixed remuneration and STI
performance outcomes for his direct reports.

5.2 Role of the Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee
To assist the PEXA Board in carrying out its responsibilities, the Board has established the Committee which has
responsibility for reviewing and making recommendations to the Board, including those regarding the remuneration
arrangements in place for the Non-Executive Directors and Executive KMP.
The Committee’s responsibilities include, among other things:

Review and make recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s remuneration policies and practices;

Advising and making recommendations to the Board on the composition of the Board and its committees and the
selection and appointment of directors to the Board and its committees;

Advising and making recommendations to the Board on succession plans for the Board and ensuring there are plansin
place to manage the succession of members of the senior management team;

Advising and making recommendations to the Board on the ongoing evaluation of the performance of the Board, its
committees and Directors;
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6.1.2 Short-Term Incentive (STI)

Executive KMP have the opportunity to earn an annual STl which is based on a percentage of his or her FAR. The STI
percentage increases with seniority to ensure a higher proportion of remuneration is “at risk” for Executive KMP positions

with greater accountability to align with shareholders’ interests.
The table below presents the features and approach for the PEXA STl plan.

Table 3: FY22 PEXA Executive KMP STl plan

Feature Approach

Purpose To set and reward a high standard of performance measured over a twelve-month period.
Eligibility Executive KMP
Form of payment Cash

Opportunity

Details of the STl opportunity can be found in the table below.

Max STI
Name (Position) Max STI as a % of FAR
Glenn King - Group MD & CEO $647,500 70%
Richard Moore - CFO $369,000 60%
Simon Smith - COO $244,800! 60%

1. The COOQO received a25% Higher Duties Allowance for 3 months during FY22 that was pro-rated for STI
purposes

Performance period

1lyear

Gateway

Priority 1 risk and audit items (as determined by the Board) must be delivered and risk and
compliance training for the year must be completed. Failure to do so will result in zero STI for
an Executive KMP.
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Feature Approach

Performance measures  The STl is subject to two components of performance:
Company performance as measured by the Company Scorecard (70%)
Individual performance (30%)

The Company performance outcomes are assessed on four key strategic metrics which
are in line with Company’s objectives: Financial, Member and Customer, Risk, and People and
Innovation.

Category Weighting

Company Performance

Financial (including PEXA Exchange EBITDA less CAPEX;
market share and others)

o)

Member and Customer 70%
Risk
People and Innovation
Individual Performance

30%
Individual KPIs
Total 100%

The individual component has goals which are linked to the Company outcomes and
business strategy.

Executive KMP goals are approved by the Board.

At the end of the performance year, Executive KMP will be assessed against their individual
goals and demonstration of the values and awarded an overall rating in line with PEXA’s
values as described by Above and Below the Line Behavioural Descriptors.

The level of any incentive will be assessed at the end of the Company’s financial year, by
reference to Company performance outcomes and individual achievement, as well as a
demonstration of behaviours aligned with PEXA’s values.

Malus and/or clawback Consistent with unlisted company market standards, no malus or clawback provisions were
applicable. However, these provisions will be considered by the Remuneration, Nomination
and People Committee for future application.

Payment timing 70% of STl is paid in the September following the applicable financial year and 30% of STI
is deferred to the following September, provided in both instances Executive KMP are still
employed by PEXA and not under notice of employment termination.

Board discretion The Board also reserves full discretion regarding any STI payments based on holistic factors
in relation to the business.

Treatment on STlis forfeited upon notice of termination.
termination
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6.1.3 Long-Term Incentive (LTI)

Executive KMP have the opportunity to receive an annual LTI grant in the form of Performance Rights, which is based on a
percentage of his or her FAR. The LTI percentage increases with seniority to ensure a higher proportion of remuneration is
“at risk” for Executive KMP positions with greater accountability to align with shareholders’ interests.

The table below presents the features and approach for the PEXA LTI plan.

Table 4: FY22 PEXA Executive KMP LTI plan

Feature Approach

Purpose To set and reward a high standard of performance measured over a three-year period.

Eligibility Executive KMP

Form of payment Rights, converting to Shares

Opportunity Details of the LTI opportunity can be found in the table below.

Value of LTlasa

Name (Position) LTI Grant % of FAR
Glenn King - Group MD & CEO $925,000 100%
Richard Moore - CFO $369,000 60%
Simon Smith - COO $192,000 50%

Performance period 3years

Performance measures  The LTlis assessed against two independent performance targets:
Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR)

Earnings Per Share performance hurdle - 75% weighting

Underlying EPS Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) is calculated by dividing the

NPATA by the undiluted weighted average number of shares on issue. The Board chose

EPS as a performance hurdle because it provides a clear line of sight between Executive
KMP performance and Company financial performance. It is also a well recognised and
understood measure both internal and external to PEXA. The vesting schedule of the Rights
subject to the EPS hurdle is as follows:

EPS CAGR Percentage of Performance Rights that will vest
At or above 25% 100%

Between 15% and 25% Pro-rata vesting from 50% to 100%

At15% 50%

Lessthan15% 0%
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Feature Approach

Performance measures

continued

Relative Total Shareholder Return performance hurdle - 25% weighting

The TSR measure represents change in the PEXA share price over a three-year period and
includes reinvested dividends (if applicable). The Board chose relative TSR as a performance
hurdle because it provides a direct measure of shareholder return. Relative TSR is measured
against constituents of the S&P/ASX200 information technology group. The vesting
schedule of the rights subject to the relative TSR hurdle is as follows:

Performance Percentage of Performance Rights that will vest

At or above 75th percentile 100%

Greater than 50th percentile
and up to 75th percentile

Pro-rata vesting between 50% and 100%

Equal to 50th percentile 50%

Less than 50th percentile 0%

Executive KMP measures are approved by the Board prior to offers being made.

At the end of the performance period, Company performance is assessed against the
specific measures detailed above, and a corresponding vesting of Rights into Shares is
determined. The Company does not use reference to any external share index.

Grant date

21 March 2022

Total fair value
of the grant

$1,160,848 (for 3 KMP only)

Fair value per right

$16.11 (for 3 KMP only)

Exercise price per right

$0

Expiry date

15 years from grant date

Exercise date

Post June 30 2024

Malus and/or clawback

Provisions for both Malus and Clawback have been included in the Rules that govern the
running of this plan.

Exercise timing

Any applicable vesting will occur around October, three years post the commencement of
each particular tranche.

Board discretion

The Board also reserves full discretion regarding any LTI vesting, based on holistic factors in
relation to the business.

Treatment on
termination

LTl is forfeited upon notice of termination of employee.
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6.1.4 Key Terms of Executive KMP Employment Contracts
The following tables set out the contractual provisions for current Executive KMP.

Each Executive KMP has a formal contract, known as a “service agreement”. These agreements are of a continuing nature
and have no set term of service (subject to the termination provisions).

The key terms of the service agreements for the Executive KMP are summarised below:

Table 5: Key Terms - Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer, Glenn King

Contract duration Commenced 14 October 2019, open ended.

FAR as of 11 June 2021 $925,000. Includes salary and superannuation.

Review of FAR Reviewed annually, effective from 1 July with no obligation to adjust.

Variable remuneration eligibility The Group MD & CEOQ is eligible to participate in PEXA’s plans for performance-

based remuneration, and in FY22 that included:
FY22 STI Maximum opportunity

70% of FAR
70% of STl earned is paid in September 2022. 30% of STl earned is paid
in September 2023.
Non-compete period Either 3 months or 6 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.
Non-solicitation period Either 6 months or 12 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.
Notice by PEXA 12 months
Notice by Executive 12 months

Termination payments tocompensate Maximum benefit from termination payment and payment in lieu of notice is
for non.-solicita]tio'n/non'Compete 12 months based on fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No
clause in certain circumstances payment is made for termination due to gross misconduct.

Table 6: Key Terms - Chief Financial Officer

Chief Financial Officer, Richard Moore

Contract duration Commenced 3 February 2020, open ended.

FAR as of 1 July 2020 $615,000. Includes salary and superannuation.

Review of FAR Reviewed annually effective from 1 July with no obligation to adjust.
Variable remuneration eligibility The CFO is eligible to participate in PEXA's plans for performance-based

remuneration, and in FY22 thatincluded:

FY22 STI Maximum opportunity

60% of FAR

70% of STl earned is paid in September 2022.30% of STl earned is paid

in September 2023.
Non-compete period Either 3 months or 6 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.
Non-solicitation period Either 6 months, 12 months or 24 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.
Notice by PEXA 9 months
Notice by Executive 9 months

Termination payments tocompensate Maximum benefit from termination payment and payment in lieu of notice is
for non-solicitation/non-compete 9 months based on fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No
clause in certain circumstances payment is made for termination due to gross misconduct.
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Table 7: Key Terms - Chief Operations Officer

Chief Operations Officer, Simon Smith

Contract duration Commenced 9 December 2020, open ended.

FAR at date of commencement $384,000. Includes salary and superannuation.

This reflects a 30.4 hour working week.

Review of FAR Reviewed annually effective from 1 July with no obligation to adjust.

Variable remuneration eligibility The COO s eligible to participate in PEXA’s plans for performance-based
remuneration, and in FY22 that included:

FY22 STI Maximum opportunity

60% of FAR
70% of STl earned is paid in September 2022. 30% of STl earned is paid
in September 2023.
Non-compete period Either 3 months or 6 months, whichever is the greater period enforceable.
Non-solicitation period Either 6 months, 12 months or 24 months, whichever is the greater period

enforceable.

Notice by PEXA 6 months

Notice by Executive 6 months

Termination payments to compensate  Maximum benefit from termination payment and payment in lieu of notice is
for non-solicitation/non-compete 6 months based on fixed annual remuneration at the date of termination. No
clause in certain circumstances payment is made for termination due to gross misconduct.

The Board has full discretion to amend any of the above termination arrangements to acknowledge exceptional
circumstances and determine appropriate alternative vesting outcomes that are consistent, fair and reasonable, and
balance multiple stakeholder interests.

The Board acknowledges that, consistent with its approach to voluntarily adopt certain corporate governance obligations
not otherwise applicable to PEXA, shareholder approval will be sought where termination payments exceed the limits
prescribed by the Corporations Act.



72 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

Remuneration Report

7. FY22 Remuneration Outcomes

71 Fixed Remuneration

There were no adjustments made to Executive KMP Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) levels for the 2022 period.

7.2 Short-Term Incentive (STI)

The following table outlines the Group MD & CEQ’s FY22 performance against his individual scorecard. The same Company
component applied to all Executive KMP for FY22.

Table 8: FY22 Group MD & CEO Performance

Successfully
Measure Weighting Outcome Achieved

Company Component (70%)

Financial

PEXA Exchange EBITDA less core capex o

Statutory PBT o
21.0% 15.75%

QLD market share. ACT market share ®

PEXA insights external revenue ®

Member & Customer

Getting people into their property on time o

Exchange NPS ([ ]
28.0% 21.0%

UK pilot contractual commitment o

PEXA Key Invitations ®

Risk (15%)

Laws or regulation breach o

Platform Fraud 10.5% 10.5% ®

External Audit Items ®

People & Innovation (15%)

'‘Action’ in Culture & Engagement o

ESG Benchmark 10.5% 10.5% ®

Brand health [

Group MD & CEQ's Individual Component (30%)

Individual Scorecard 30% 27.5% [

100% 85.25%
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Company performance makes up 70% of the Executive KMP scorecard and each Executive KMP also has a 30% individual
performance component. Individual goals are designed to be challenging and are linked to business strategy.

FY22 performance on the Company financial performance resulted in an average 86% payout of maximum achievement
as 3 of 4 financial measures were met. Nine out of 10 other Company performance conditions were fully met resulting in an
86% achievement of maximum for this component of Company performance. Additional detail on the Group MD & CEQ'’s
performance against his FY22 scorecard is included in Section 7.2.

Each Executive KMP also has a 30% individual performance component. Each Executive KMP’s score out of 30% was
as follows: Group MD & CEO (27.5%); CFO (27.5%) and COO (30%) providing total FY22 STl achievements out of the
maximums available of: Group MD & CEOQ (85.25%); CFO (85.25%) and COO (87.75%).

The Board approved the following STl outcomes for Executive KMP in August 2022.

Table 9: FY22 Executive KMP STI Outcomes

2022 F2023 % %

Cash STI Cash Earned Forfeited

Position Total STI payment STl payment of Max STI of Max STI
Group MD & CEO $551,994 $386,396 $165,598 85.25% 14.75%
CFO $314,573 $220,201 $94,372 85.25% 14.75%

(010]0] $214,812 $150,368 $64,444 87.75% 12.25%
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8. Non-Executive Director Remuneration

8.1 Non-Executive Director Remuneration Policy

Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is determined by reference to relevant external market data and takes into
consideration the level of fees paid to directors of other Australian corporations of similar size and complexity to PEXA.

Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is subject to the aggregate fee pool limit of $2 million per annum. Approval will
be sought for any change to the aggregate sum at a general meeting of shareholders.

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are fixed and are not linked to the financial performance of the Company. Non-Executive
Directors are not entitled to retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation benefits.

The following table sets out the Board fee structure.

Table 11: Board fees (inclusive of superannuation)

Fee
Board Chairman $350,000
Board Member $160,000
Audit and Risk Committee Chair $30,000
Audit and Risk Committee Member $17,500
Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee Chair $30,000
Remuneration, Nomination and People Committee Member $17,500

In addition to Board and Committee fees, Non-Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for all reasonable travel,
accommodation and other expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board, Committees or shareholders or while
engaged on PEXA business.

There were no performance-based plans for PEXA Non-Executive Directors.

The table below illustrates the statutory remuneration for the Non-Executive Directors.
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8.2 FY22 Statutory Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors

This table sets out the remuneration of Non-Executive KMP for the 2022 financial year in Australian Dollars and has been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of section 300A of the Australian Corporations Act 2001 and associated
accounting standards.

Table 12: Non-Executive KMP (NED) statutory remuneration

Share-based Payments

Post-
Employ-

ment Total

Non-| benefits Statutory

Base Superan- Monetary |- Termina- Bonus Matched Options | Remunera-

Year Salary® nuation  Benefits tion Shares' Shares?  &rights tion

Mark Joiner 2022 $350,000 - - - - - - $350,000

2021 $58,333 - - - $399,986 $19,991 - $478,310

Vivek Bhatia®> 2022 $177,500 - - - - - - $177,500

2021 $8,485 - - - - $19,991 - $28,476

Dr Kirstin 2022 $188,636 $18,864 - - - - - $207,500
Ferguson

2021 $7,713 $771 - - $149,990 $19,991 - $178,465

John Hawkins* 2022 $177,500 - - - - - - $177,500

2021 $8,485 - - - - $19,991 - $28,476

PaulRickard 2022 $161,364 $16,136 - - - - $177,500

2021 $7,713 $771 - - - $19,991 - $28,475

Helen 2022 $25,517 $2,551 - - - - - $28,068
Silver AO

2021 - - - - - - - -

Melanie Willis 2022 $188,636 $18,864 - - - - - $207,500

2021 $7,713 $771 - - $149,990 $19,991 - $178,465

Alan 2022 - - - - - - - -

CameronAQ® 5021 $143,038 - - $85,000 - - - $228,038

Total 2022 $1,269,153 $56,415 - - - - - $1,325,568

2021  $241,480 $2,313 - $85,000 $699,966 $119,946 - $1,148,705

1. Independent Non-Executive Directors received Consideration (or Bonus) Shares in consideration of the services provided to the Company

in preparation for, and on completion of, the IPO Offer

2. Directors participating in the Employee and Director Offer received a 1:4 Matching Share, for a maximum of $100,000 of shares (including
the 1:4 Matching Share) at no cost to the Director

Vivek Bhatia’s fees are paid directly to Link Property Pty Ltd

John Hawkins’ fees are paid for his services through Somerset Services Pty Ltd

Alan Cameron retired from the Board on 3 May 2021

. Base fees for 2021 represent date of joining the Board or partial year for which fees commenced

No o s w

The following former NEDs (and alternates) served on the Board in 2021 but did not receive any fees: David Singh, Binh Tran, Dan O’Neill,
Andrew Maclachlan, Janine Rolfe, Mark McLean, Tim Cooper, Marc van't Noordende
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9. Movements in Shares and Rights in the Company

9.1 KMP Shareholdings

The movements in Share and other Equity Holdings for KMP throughout FY22 are disclosed in the table below.

Table 13: KMP Shareholdings

Held at Shares Shares Held at
NED 1/7/21 Acquired Disposed 30/6/22
Mark Joiner 29,187 - - 29,187
Vivek Bhatia 5,837 - - 5,837
Dr Kirstin Ferguson 14,593 - - 14,593
John Hawkins 5,837 - - 5,837
Paul Rickard 5,837 3,000 - 8,837
Helen Silver AO - - - -
Melanie Willis 14,593 - - 14,593

Held at Shares Shares Held at
Executive 1/7/21 Acquired Disposed! 30/6/22
Glenn King 1,458,442 - 302,805 1,155,637
Richard Moore 729,220 - 151,402 577,818
Simon Smith 162,476 - 56,889 105,587

1. Sharessoldon1July 2021 to fund tax liability on shares sold during IPO to repay MEP loans

9.2 Executive KMP Performance Rights Holdings

The movements in Performance Rights for KMP throughout FY22 are disclosed in the table below.

Table 14: Executive KMP Performance Rights holdings

Granted Forfeited Expired Vested Exercised
Held at during during during during during Held at
Executive 1/7/1 FY22 FY22 FY22 FY22 FY22 30/6/22
Glenn King - 58,176 - - - - 58,176
Richard Moore - 22,404 - - - - 22,404
Simon Smith - 11,657 - - - - 11,657

The LTI plan grant of performance rights is for three years from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024 therefore no rights were vested
or were exercised during the year. No rights are exercisable as at 30 June 2022.
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10. Other KMP Disclosures
101 Loans to KMP

Inthe year ended 30 June 2022, there were no loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties.

10.2 Other KMP Transactions

Inthe year ended 30 June 2022, there were no transactions entered into during the year with Key Management Personnel
(including their related parties).
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Managing Director and Group Chief
Executive Officer

The Managing Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Chief Financial Officer

The Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

Chief Operations Officer

The Chief Operations Officer of the Company.

KMP

Key Management Personnel. This includes Non-Executive Directors and CEO,
CFO and COO.

Non-Executive Directors

A member of the Company’s board of directors who is not part of the executive
team and is not involved in the day-to-day management of the Company.

Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR)

Includes salary and superannuation.

Short-Term Incentive (STI)

Incentive contingent on pre-determined performance measures. Measured
over one year. Part of an Executive’s ‘at-risk’ pay.

Long-Term Incentive (LTI)

Incentive contingent on pre-determined performance measures. Measured
over more than one year. Part of an Executive’s ‘at-risk’ pay.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)

Key performance indicators. Used to assess and monitor performance of one,
or a group of executives.
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 2021
Note $°000 $°000
Revenue 4 279,839 221,046
Cost of sales 4 (34,525) (29,333)
Gross profit 245,314 191,713
Product development 4 (38,160) (24,501)
Sales and marketing 4 (19,994) (20,096)
General and administrative 4 (79,188) (52,705)
Depreciation and amortisation 4 (66,529) (64,178)
Depreciation of right of use assets 413 (1,842) (1,830)
Loss oninvestments (300) -
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (400) -
Share of loss after tax from investments in associates 23 (162) -
Profit before interest and tax 38,739 28,403
Interestincome 502 650
Interest expense on loans and borrowings - related parties 18 - (36,629)
Interest expense on loans and borrowings - other (5,330) (4)
Finance costs associated with leases 13 (487) (512)
Amortisation of debt raising transaction costs (504) -
Profit/(Loss) before income tax 32,920 (8,092)
Income tax expense 6 (11,069) (3,695)
Profit/(Loss) after income tax 21,851 (11,787)
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in future periods
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, net of tax (175) -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 21,676 (11,787)
Basic earnings per share (cents) 21 12.32 (8.54)
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 21 12.32 (8.54)

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 2021

Note $°000 $°000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 75,391 51,517
Trade and other receivables 8 1,442 2,115
Prepayments and other assets 9 17,323 9,564
Other financial assets 10 24141 21,451
Total Current Assets 118,297 84,647
Non-Current Assets
Prepayments 9 4,071 -
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,607 823
Intangible assets 12 1,499,965 1,517,259
Right-of-use assets 13 7,850 10,137
Other non-current financial assets 829 250
Investments in associates 23 29,642 -
Total Non-Current Assets 1,543,964 1,528,469
Total Assets 1,662,261 1,613,116
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 49,499 49,858
Interest bearing loans and borrowings - related parties 18 - 192,983
Provisions 16 6,735 4967
Lease liabilities 13 1,882 1,772
Total Current Liabilities 58,116 249,580
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 17 693 592
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 297989 297,397
Lease liabilities 13 7,625 9,931
Deferred tax liabilities 6d 33,137 23,824
Total Non-Current Liabilities 339,444 331,744
Total Liabilities 397,560 581,324
Net Assets 1,264,701 1,031,792
EQUITY
Contributed equity 20 1,268,362 1,058,198
Reserves 20 8,483 7,589
Accumulated losses (12,144) (33,995)
Total Equity 1,264,701 1,031,792

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Share Foreign
Based Currency
Contributed Payments Translation  Accumulated

equity Reserve Reserve losses

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Asat1July 2020 1,618,632 - - (22,208) 1,596,424
Loss for the year - - - (11,787) (11,787)
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Return of share capital to (949,490) - - - (949,490)
shareholders (Note 18)
Share based payment expense - 7,589 - - 7,589
(Note 20)
Equity Issuance costs (418) - - - (418)
(net of tax) (Note 20)
Exercise of MEP Performance 35,356 - - - 35,356
Shares (Note 20)
Conversion of shareholder loans 354,118 - - - 354,118
toissued shares (Note 18)
Asat 30 June 2021 1,058,198 7,589 - (33,995) 1,031,792
Asat1July 2021 1,058,198 7,589 - (33,995) 1,031,792
Profit for the year - - - 21,851 21,851
Exchange differences on - - 175 - 175
translation of foreign operations
Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:
Issue of new shares associated 214,661 - - - 214,661
with Initial Public Offering (IPO)
Equity Issuance costs (4,497) - - - (4,497)
(net of tax) (Note 20)
Share based payment expense - 719 - - 719
(Note 20)
Asat 30 June 2022 1,268,362 8,308 175 (12,144) 1,264,701

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2022

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Cash from operating activities:

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 307,354 241,929
Interest received 502 650
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (212,257) (129,116)
Interest paid on loans/lease liabilities (5,818) (4,179)
Net cash flows from operating activities 7 89,781 109,284

Cash flows from investing activities:

Development of intangible assets 12 (48,625) (22,601)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (1,394) (498)
Investments in other non-current financial assets (879) (250)
Investments in associates 23 (29,804) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities (80,702) (23,349)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Share capital raise at IPO 20 214,661 -
Repayment of shareholder loans 18 (192,982) (400,000)
Payment of equity issuance costs 20 (4,908) (598)
Proceeds from borrowings 19 - 300,000
Payment of borrowing costs 19 - (2,603)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 13 (1,749) (1,634)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 15,022 (104,835)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 24,101 (18,900)
Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates (227) -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 51,517 70,417
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 75,391 51,517

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate information

a. Reporting entity

The consolidated financial statements (the financial statements) comprise that of PEXA Group Limited and its subsidiaries
(the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2022. They were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Directors on 26 August 2022. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

b. Initial public offering (IPO) and listing on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX)
The Group’s shares began trading on the ASX on 1 July 2021, following the successful completion of an IPO under the

code PXA.

There were multiple steps involved in the Group’s listing process, some of which occurred during the year ended 30 June
2021 with the remaining impacts recognised during the year ended 30 June 2022. IPO related transactions that have had an
impact on the year ended 30 June 2022 include the items below. These items should be considered in conjunction with the
descriptions contained within Note 1(b) of the PEXA Group’s annual consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2021
that contains further details on the various IPO steps.

Repayment of remaining shareholder loans (Note 18)
Transaction costs (Note 4)

New equity issued upon IPO (Note 20)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

a. Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

i. Statement of compliance

This financial report is a general-purpose financial report, for a ‘for-profit’ entity, which has been prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards, Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial statements also comply with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The financial statements are presented in
Australian Dollars.

ii. Rounding

Amounts within this report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (unless otherwise stated) under the option available to
the Group under ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191.

b. Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Group is a going concern, which assumes continuity
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of
business. The Directors consider that the basis of going concern is appropriate and the company will continue to meet
its ongoing obligations.
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c. New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

i. Adoption of new accounting standards effective this year
There were no new accounting standards adopted during the year that had a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
ii. Other standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted by the Group
Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to AASB 3
AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to AASB 101
Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to AASB 108
Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to AASB 108 and AASB Practice Statement 2
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - Amendments to AASB 112
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to AASB 10

and AASB128

The Group has considered other accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been issued and will be
applicable in future periods, however their impact is not considered material to the Group.

d. Cash and short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in-hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

e. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for purchases of goods and services by the Group. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and
due to their short-term nature, they are not discounted.

f. Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the
associate.

The financial information and statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on
its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within
“Share of profit of an associate” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit and loss.
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g. Financial instruments

i. Financial assets

Recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCl), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price determined under AASB 15 as disclosed
in Note 2(j).

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OClI, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)" on the principal amount outstanding (apart from
equity instruments which can be designated as fair value through OCI). This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and
is performed at an instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Currently, the Group’s business model for all financial assets is to hold in order to collect
contractual cash flows. This results in the Group’s principal financial assets being subsequently measured at amortised
cost. These include:

Trade and other receivables, and

Other financial assets.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or when the Group
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and has either transferred substantially all of the risks and
rewards associated with the asset or control of the asset to a third party.

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
Refer to Note 8 for further details of the Group’s approach to recognising ECL's on trade receivables.

ii. Financial liabilities

Recognition and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or financial

liabilities at amortised cost, consistent with their subsequent measurement.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at amortised cost, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s principal financial liabilities at 30 June 2022 include external loans, trade and other payables which are
measured at amortised cost.
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Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred, or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss
as other income or finance costs.

iii. Measurement of financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost

Financial instruments measured at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (EIR)
method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and allocating the interest income or
expense over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

h. Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at historical cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Such costincludes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts
isincurred. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.

As property, plant and equipment is not considered to generate independent cash flows, the carrying amount of these
assets is included within the assets of the cash generating unit assessed as part of the Group’s impairment testing process
as outlined in Note 2(l).

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:
Property Plant and Equipment - over 3 to 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. An
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

i. Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contractis, or contains, alease. That s, if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

i. Right of use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or
estimated useful life (being between 0.5 and 4.5 years).

87



88 PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022

ii. Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees but do not include payments relating to non-lease
components of the agreement. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.

The present value of lease payments is calculated using the interest rate implicit within the lease or, if this is not readily
determinable, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (IBR). The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.

iii. Short-term leases and leases of low value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

iv. Leases acquired in a business combination

Forleases acquired in a business combination, the Group measures the acquired lease liabilities using the present value
of the remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect the favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease relative to market terms.

j. Revenue and income

i. Revenue from contracts with customers - Property Settlement Transactions (PST)

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services.

The Group currently generates the majority of its revenue from PST fees collected from Subscribers for electronic
conveyancing transactions completed on the PEXA exchange. The Group recognises revenue on the day of successful
settlement and lodgement of an electronic conveyancing transaction (pointin time). It is only at this point that the
performance obligation to provide the electronic conveyancing network is satisfied and that PEXA is entitled to collect PST
fees. PST fees are collected as a disbursement of settlement funds at the time of settlement or via direct debit when the
electronic conveyancing transaction does not include financial settlement. Direct debits are processed on the evening of
the day of lodgement.

PEXA groups its PST fees into three categories:

Transfer lodgements: dealings connected to the transfer of a property title or sales transfer, and any associated
discharges and mortgages in conjunction with the property transfer and other ownership transfers such as inheritance
and family law matters.

Refinancing lodgements: dealings connected to the refinance of a debt facility secured by a mortgage, but which are
not connected to a sales transfer and involve a discharge of an existing mortgage replaced by a new mortgage.

Other lodgements: other dealings lodged, either alone or together, but which are not connected to a transfer lodgement
or arefinance lodgement (such as a standalone discharge of mortgage lodged after aloan has been wholly repaid), a
standalone mortgage lodged after a new loan is advanced, caveat-related dealings, death-related dealings, and lease-
related dealings.
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ii. Interest income

Interestincome is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.

k. Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
AASB 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in accordance with AASB 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of AASB 9 is measured at
fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group
re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the
procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of
the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gainis recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the
disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

l. Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets other than goodwill and indefinite life intangibles are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The Group conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of information to assess for any
indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, technology and economic
conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of
the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated.

Animpairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.
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m. Intangible assets

i. Initial recognition

Intangible assets are recognised when they are identifiable, it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits
flowing to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquiredina
business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Anintangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal project is recognised only when the Group

can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate probable future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

ii. Subsequent measurement

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered

to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the expense
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. The table below outlines the amortisation periods and
methods currently applied to the Group’s finite life intangibles (which are consistent with those applied in the prior period):

Intangible software assets

and customer relationships Operational procedures
Useful lives 15 years 3years
Amortisation method used Amortised over the period of expected Amortised over the period of expected

future benefits on a straight-line basis future benefits on a straight-line basis

Internally generated or acquired Bothinternally generated (development Acquired
costs) and acquired.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (including
goodwill) are not amortised or an intangible asset not yet available for use, but are tested for impairment annually, either
individually or at the cash-generating unit level (refer Note 2(1)).

The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable.
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Anintangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included

in the statement of profit or loss.

n. Research and development costs

Costsincurred oninternal projects that do not meet the criteria outlined in Note 2(m)(i) above for recognition as an internally
generated intangible asset (development costs) are recognised as an expense in profit or loss.
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o. Provisions and employee benefits

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Where the provisions are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the annual reporting period in which the obligation arises, the liability is discounted to present value based on management’s best
estimate of the timing of settlement and the expenditure required to settle the liability at the reporting date.

The discount rates used to determine the present value of employee-related provisions are determined by reference
to market yields at the end of the reporting period attaching to high-quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity
and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows of the related liability.

p. Share-based payments transactions

Certain employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity settled transactions).

i. Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an
appropriate valuation model often with the assistance of external experts, further details of which are given in Note 20.

That costis recognised in employee benefits expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
payments reserve), over the period in which the service and, where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled (the
vesting period). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until

the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the statement of comprehensive income for

a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood and probability of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service
conditions have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
as vested irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value
of the unmodified award, provided the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date
of modification, is recognised for the increase in fair value over the original grant date fair value.

Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award
is expensed immediately through profit or loss.

ii. Cash-settled transactions

If a share-based payment transaction is expected to be settled by way of cash, a liability is recognised for the fair value of
cash-settled transactions. The fair value is measured initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement
date, with changes in fair value recognised in share based payments expense. The fair value is expensed over the period
until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled transactions also applies to cash-settled transactions.
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iii. Transactions with cash and equity settlement alternatives

The Group’s share-based payment plans during the year ended 30 June 2021 had both cash and equity settlement
alternatives. Where the settlement method is contingent on the occurrence of certain events which are outside the control of
the Group (for example a change in control of the Group), the relevant share based payment plan will be accounted for as either
cash or equity settled based on the most probable vesting method at the grant date and reassessed at each reporting date,
taking into account the facts and circumstances that exist at that time. Refer to Note 3 for discussion of considerations and
judgements relevant to the settlement method accounting for the former Management Equity Plan.

Where a share based payment is initially accounted for as equity settled at the grant date and in a subsequent period

the expected settlement method changes to cash, the fair value of the liability to settle in cash at the date of the change in
settlement expectations is recognised in equity to the extent the vesting period has expired. In subsequent periods the fair
value of the liability is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s policy on cash settled transactions.

q. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus or minus transaction costs that are directly attributable.
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or premium
on settlement.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities when the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date.
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur apart from where they directly relate to the raising of qualifying
assets. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

r. Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

s. Income tax and other taxes

i. Income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Currentincome tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

When the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that sufficient taxable temporary differences exist relating to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity which are expected to reverse or it is probable (probable is considered as more likely
than not) that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

When the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

When the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in
joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
itis no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
assetis realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Where there is uncertainty as to the tax treatment of a particular item by tax authorities, the Group considers whether

itis probable that the taxation authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment. If the Group concludes that the position is
not probable of being accepted, the effect of the uncertainty is measured based on the most likely amount or the expected
value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty. If the Group concludes
that the position is probable of being accepted, the Group reflects amounts consistently with the treatment used or planned to
be used initsincome tax filings.

ii. Other taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

The netamount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a net basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority.
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t. Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily relates to fees paid to state land registries for property information relating to settlements.

The Group incurs these expenses on a per lodgement basis in advance of when a transaction completes. Costs associated
with open transactions at year end are recorded in the statement of financial position as an asset and recognised as an
expense when the transaction completes.

u. Comparative Figures

Where applicable, comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current financial
year. Where applicable, presentation or classification of items in the financial statements has been amended, comparative
figures have been reclassified unless reclassification is impractical.

v. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of PEXA Group Ltd and its subsidiaries as at

30 June 2022. Controlis achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls
aninvestee if, and only if, the Group has:

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of OCl are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating

to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment
retained is recognised at fair value.
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w. Fair value

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as awhole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable

X. Software as a Service Arrangements (SaaS)

The Group evaluates whether a SaaS arrangement provides the customer a resource that it can control.

Where the Group has the power to obtain future economic benefits flowing from the use of an underlying resource and to
restrict access of others to those benefits, any costs incurred to configure or customise SaaS arrangements are recognised
as a separate intangible software asset and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-line basis. If costs
are incurred to configure or customise SaaS arrangements and do not result in the recognition of an intangible software
asset, those costs are recognised as expenses when the supplier provides the services.

3. Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.

Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical experience and on other various factors it believes to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates
and assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions
and may materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.

Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the
financial statements.

Significant accounting judgements

i. Taxation

The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement to assess whether deferred tax assets are
recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As detailed in Note 6(d), at 30 June 2022 the Group has
recognised deferred tax assets of $144.6 million primarily relating to carry forward tax losses.

Recognition of deferred tax amounts are subject to significant judgement, risk and uncertainty, particularly around the
interpretation of relevant taxation law, in particular the satisfaction (or continued satisfaction) of either the continuity

of ownership or business continuity tests. Changes in circumstances or interpretations of taxation law could alter
expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the
Statement of Financial Position and the availability of amounts in future financial periods. Additionally, a deferred tax asset
is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
future profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.
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ii. Capitalisation of internally developed software and impairment assessments

Distinguishing between the research and development phases of a new customised software project and determining
whether the recognition requirements for the capitalisation of development costs as discussed in Note 2(m)(i) are met,
requires judgement. After capitalisation, management monitors whether the recognition requirements continue to be met
and whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired.

iii. Recognition of transaction costs relating to the issuance of shares

Transaction costs were incurred in connection with the PEXA Group’s IPO. Where costs related jointly to one or more
transactions, judgement has been used to allocate and deduct these costs from equity based on the proportion of new
shares issued to existing shares. Remaining transaction costs will be recognised within profit and loss.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

i. Estimation of useful lives of assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected
utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the utility of certain
software and IT equipment. Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary.

ii. Settlement method and valuation of the Management Equity Plan

As detailed in Note 20, during the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group approved a limited recourse loan funded Share
based incentive plan (MEP) to link remuneration rewards more directly to the value drivers of the business. As part of the
IPO process, MEP Performance Shares vested and were converted to Ordinary Shares on 29 June 2021.

Estimating the fair value for share-based payment transactions required determination of the most appropriate valuation
model which, for equity settled plans, depends on the terms and conditions of the grant at grant date. This estimate also
required determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option
or appreciation right, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. Different inputs and assumptions
may lead to different determinations of fair value. The valuation method applied by the Group and key estimates and
assumptions is detailed in Note 20.

iii. Impairment testing of intangible assets (including goodwill)

The Group assesses whether its intangible assets (including goodwill) are carried above their recoverable amount on an
annual basis or when there are other indicators of impairment. Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and value-in-use (VIU). The Group completes its impairment assessment based on all known
facts and circumstances, incorporating its best estimates from information available at reporting date.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group applied a VIU discounted cash flow methodology to assess recoverable
amount. However, at 30 June 2021, due to the timing of the IPO and ASX listing, the Group considered sufficient evidence
was provided by the IPO transaction prices. This transaction involved external market participants and thereforea FVLCD
approach was adopted.

Given the best evidence of an asset’s FVLCD is a price in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length transaction, the Group
considered the use of the IPO transaction price as appropriate for assessing recoverable amount at 30 June 2021. Refer to
Note 12 for further information.
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4. Revenue, Income and Expenses

2022 2021
$°000 $°000
Revenue from contracts with customers
Transfers 221,255 178,911
Refinances 40,414 30,026
Other exchange transactions 14,884 9,699
Other products 3,286 2,410
Total revenue from contracts with customers 279,839 221,046
Cost of sales (34,525) (29,333)
Product development expenses!
Employee benefit expenses? (20,725) (9,501)
|IT and technology costs (17,435) (15,000)
(38,160) (24,501)
Sales and marketing expenses
Employee benefit expenses? (15,931) (17,076)
Travel and entertainment (1,122) (777)
Sales and marketing (2,941) (2,243)
(19,994) (20,096)
General and administrative expenses
Employee benefit expenses? (26,317) (23,680)
Share based payment expense - MEP (Note 20(b))? - (6,267)
Share based payment expense - LTI (Note 20(b))? (719) -
Employee and Director incentive shares? - (1,322)
Professional fees (13,662) (8,326)
Occupancy expenses (609) (611)
Transaction costs associated with IPO (excluding Employee benefit costs)? (23,972) (6,470)
Insurance (including Directors and officers and public offering of securities) (5,509) (1,388)
Other* (8,400) (4,641)
(79,188) (52,705)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (609) (550)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment - (1)
Amortisation of Intangibles (65,858) (63,308)
Write off of intangible assets (62) (319)
(66,529) (64,178)
Depreciation of right of use assets (1,842) (1,830)

1. Product development expenses relate to amounts incurred on development of the PEXA Exchange software and the UK Exchange that did
not meet the Group’s criteria for capitalisation as an intangible asset.

2. Total employee benefits expense for the year was $63.7 million (30 June 2021: $57.8 million).

3. Transaction costs, including amounts payable to the Joint Lead Managers of the IPO, were incurred on or after the successful completion of
the IPOon1 July 2021.

4. Other general and administration expenditure is predominantly recruitment, Directors’ fees and bank charges.
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5. Segment Information

The Group has three reportable operating segments, being:

PEXA Exchange: comprising the Australian Electronic Lodgement Network (ELN) and financial settlement platform
which operates in the Australian electronic conveyancing market. The PEXA Exchange facilitates the collaboration
between subscribers (Members) across the property ecosystem to enable the transfer and settlement of transactions
inreal property.

PEXA International: the Group is developing an “international” version of the PEXA Exchange platform thatis intended
to provide digital property lodgement and settlement solutions for new jurisdictions. PEXA has chosen the UK (through
England and Wales) as the first jurisdiction for its international expansion.

PEXA Insights: seeks to appropriately leverage its near real time, accurate and comprehensive property data and other
data sources to generate valuable data-driven insights for property market participants.

Target customers of the PEXA Exchange are Members who execute Lodgement and Settlement Services Transactions.
These include financial institutions lending funds for property purchases and refinances, practitioners representing
individual buyers and sellers and property developers. Members pay fees for each Exchange Transaction lodged via the
Exchange. The price the Group charges for these services is regulated and price increases are capped.

At 30 June 2021, the Group only identified one reportable operating segment (the PEXA Exchange) given the preliminary
development of PEXA International and PEXA Insights. As at 30 June 2022, the Group has recognised these two additional
segments based on the on-going development of the International Exchange and PEXA Insights now managing material
acquired investments and developing operational products. Information that relates to PEXA International and PEXA
Insights has been restated for the comparative year ended 30 June 2021.

The Group does not currently generate revenues from transactions with a single external customer for amounts equal to or
greater than 10% of total revenue.

Separate segment performance reports are provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (CODMs) (being the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) on a monthly basis to aid decision making around resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The CODMs manage and monitor performance on Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA),
whichis a non-IFRS measure. EBITDA is calculated as statutory net profit adjusted for interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation and certain other costs not relating to core segment operations and activities (such as project and business
expansion related costs).

Assets and liabilities for the reporting segments currently only include intangible assets and investments in associates.
PEXA International assets include $20.0 million of capitalised in-house software assets. PEXA Insights assets primarily
include the Group’s investments in associates and are subject to equity accounting. Other Group assets and liabilities
remain unallocated for segment reporting purposes.
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Segment results

The segment financial information provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers is set out below:

PEXA PEXA PEXA

Exchange International’ Insights
Year ended 30 June 2022 $°000 $°000 $°000

Segment operating revenue

Platform revenue 276,553 - - 276,553
Other 3,220 - 66 3,286
Total segment revenue 279,773 - 66 279,839
Cost of sales (34,525) - - (34,525)
Gross margin 245,248 - 66 245,314
Resource costs (55,051) (6,777) (5,049) (66,877)
Other operating expenses (37,503) (5,427) (1,388) (44,318)
Segment EBITDA? from core operations 152,694 (12,204) (6,371) 134,119
PX Ventures (1,076)
Expenses including redundancy and restructure (1,399)
Transaction costs associated with IPO (23,972)

(excluding employee benefit costs)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss (400)

Share of loss after tax from investments (162)
in associates

Depreciation and amortisation (68,371)
Interest expense (net) (5,315)
Amortisation of debt raising transaction costs (504)
Statutory net profit before tax 32,920

1. International costs are incurred in subsidiaries in the United Kingdom (Digital Completion UK Ltd) and Australia (Property Exchange Australia Ltd).
2. EBITDA represents statutory net profit before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation and is a non-IFRS measure.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Year ended 30 June 2021

PEXA

Exchange

$°000

International’

PEXA PEXA
Insights

Segment operating revenue

$°000 $°000

Platform revenue 218,636 - - 218,636
Other 2,410 - - 2,410
Total segment revenue 221,046 - - 221,046
Cost of sales (29,333) - - (29,333)
Gross margin 191,713 - - 191,713
Resource costs (45,777) (2,695) (1,125) (49,597)
Other operating expenses (29,000) (1,860) (846) (31,706)
Segment EBITDA? from core operations 116,936 (4,555) (1,971) 110,410
Expenses including redundancy and restructure (1,540)
Transaction costs associated with IPO (8,192)
(excluding employee benefit costs)

Pre IPO management equity plan expense (6,267)
Depreciation and amortisation (66,008)
Interest expense (net) (36,495)
Statutory net loss before tax (8,092)

6. Income Tax

a. Income tax (expense)/benefit

The major components of income tax expense are:

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Currentincome tax

Currentincome tax charge

Deferred income expense

Utilisation of prior year tax losses (4,119) -
Relating to deferred tax on temporary differences (9,712) (13,811)
Deferred tax - research and development tax credit (687) (501)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,966 129
Adjustments in respect of management equity plan - (995)
Recognition of current period tax losses carried forward - 10,982
Recognition of current period tax credits carried forward 1,483 501
Income tax (expense) reported in the (11,069) (3,695)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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b. Reconciliation between profit/(loss) before tax and income tax (expense)/
benefit recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A reconciliation between tax expense, and the accounting profit/(loss) before income tax multiplied by the Group’s
applicable income tax rate is as follows:

2022

$°000
Accounting profit/(loss) before tax 32,920 (8,092)
(Expense)/benefit at the Group’s statutory tax rate of 30% (2021: 30%) (9,876) 2,428

Adjustments in respect of current income tax

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (687) -
Expenditure not allowable for income tax (3,267) (5,252)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 1,966 129
Deferred tax - research & development tax credit (687) (501)
Recognition of current period tax credits carried forward 1,483 501
Adjustment in respect of management equity plan - (995)
Other adjustments (1) (5)

Income tax (expense) reported in the

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (11,069) (3,695)

c. Amounts recognised directly in equity/balance sheet

Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period, not recognised in net profit or loss but directly debited or
credited to equity/balance sheet.

In the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group incurred various transaction costs in relation to the IPO. At 30 June 2021, these
were recognised as prepayments (net of tax impacts) to the extent they were considered directly attributable to the issue of
equity that occurred upon listing on 1 July 2021.

Inthe year ended 30 June 2022, additional expenses relating to the issue of new shares on 1 July 2021 were recognised
directly in equity and those previously recognised as prepayments were transferred to equity.

Other remaining transaction costs in the year ended 30 June 2022 are recognised immediately in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Net deferred tax - debited/(credited) directly to prepayments? 171 (171)
Net deferred tax - (credited) directly to share issuance reserve (1,927) (179)
Total (1,756) (350)

1. Deferred tax ontransaction costs that were reclassed to equity post 30 June 2021.
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d. Deferred tax balances

Deferred tax balances are offset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority. Refer to Note 3 for details in relation to judgements associated with taxation. The gross deferred tax balances
are shown below:

Consolidated Statement of Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position Comprehensive Income

2022 2021 2022 2021

$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Intangible assets (177,763) (165,622) (12,141) (16,137)

Deferred Tax Assets

Transaction costs 12,875 10,731 2,144 (2,207)
Provisions and accruals 9,312 8,163 1,149 3,997
Carry forward tax losses and tax credits 122,439 122,904 (465) 11,002
Total Deferred Tax Assets 144,626 141,798 2,828 12,792
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities (33,137) (23,824) (9,313) (3,345)

The Group, via its subsidiary in the United Kingdom, also incurred £3.4 million (A$6.2 million) of pre-trading expenses in

the years ended 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2022, which gives rise to an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £0.7 million
(A$1.2 million) at the United Kingdom corporate tax rate of 19%. Pre-trading expenses will be claimed in the tax
computation as a deductible item when the United Kingdom subsidiary commences trading, and it is expected any deferred
tax assets may become eligible to be recognised at that time.

e. Members of the Australian tax consolidated group

i. Members of the Australian tax consolidated group and the tax sharing arrangement

PEXA Group Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group with effect

from 18 December 2018. Property Exchange Australia Limited and PEXA SettleAssist Pty Ltd joined the tax consolidated
group on 16 January 2019 post their acquisition by PEXA Group Limited. PEXA Group Limited is the head entity of the tax
consolidated group. Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement that provides for the
allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations.

PEXA Group Limited has two wholly owned subsidiaries in the United Kingdom which are not part of the Australian tax
consolidated group and are standalone taxpayers in the United Kingdom (refer Note 22(c)).

ii. Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group
(AASB Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting)

The head entity and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and
deferred tax amounts. The Group has applied the group allocation approach in determining the appropriate amount of
current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. The current and deferred tax
amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principlesin AASB 112 Income Taxes.
The nature of the tax funding agreement is discussed further below.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises current tax liabilities (or assets) and
the deferred tax assets arising from carry forward tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the
tax consolidated group.
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iii. Nature of the tax funding agreement

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement requires
payments to/from the head entity to be recognised via an inter-entity receivable (payable) which is at call.

The amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the
head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require
payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.

7. Current Assets - Cash and Cash Equivalents

2022 2021
$°000 $°000
Cash at bank and on hand 60,391 51,517
Short-term deposits 15,000 -
75,391 51,517
Reconciliation of profit/(loss) for the year to net cash inflow from operating activities
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
Profit/(Loss) after income tax 21,851 (11,787)
Adjustments for:
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 68,309 65,689
Debt raising transaction costs amortisation 504 -
LTI/MEP 1,710 6,267
Share of loss of associates 162 -
Remuneration cost of issuing Directors/employee shares - 1,322
Impairment of intangibles 63 319
Loss on Investments 300 -
Capitalised interest on shareholder loans - 32,966
Unrealised FX loss 400 -
Income tax expense 11,069 3,695
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 673 (1,222)
(Increase) in prepayments/other assets (13,088) (1,780)
Increase/(decrease) in payables (3,051) 12,348
Increase in provisions 879 1,467

Net cash inflows from operating activities 89,781 109,284
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8. Current Assets - Trade and Other Receivables

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Trade receivables from contracts with customers 1,202 1,223
Rental bonds - 203
Other receivables 240 689
1,442 2,115

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is made based on applying a simplified approach in calculating the
expected credit losses (ECL). Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises an ECL
allowance based on the lifetime ECL at each reporting date. The Group’s provisioning methodology is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the economic environment. Given PST fees from
transactions on the PEXA Exchange are collected via direct debit from settlement proceeds the Group has no history of
credit losses and does not expect this to change in the future. Accordingly, the allowance for ECLs at 30 June 2022 was nil
(30 June 2021: nil).

9. Prepayments and Other Assets

2022 2021

Current $°000 $°000
Prepaid insurance 6,257 2,058
Prepaid software licensing and support 5,256 2,346
Prepaid land registry fees - lodgement support services 1,658 1,821
Prepaid ASX listing fees - 1,393
Other prepayments 2,824 1,547
Other assets! 1,328 399
17,323 9,564

2022 2021

Non-current $°000 $°000
Prepaid insurance 4,071 -

1. For30June 2021, other assets represent costs incurred prior to 30 June 2021 (net of tax) that were directly attributable to the IPO and
ASX listing. They were subsequently recognised as a deduction against equity on 1 July 2021 contemporaneously with the issuance of new
equity on that date.
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10. Current Assets - Financial Assets

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Other financial assets 24141 21,451
24,141 21,451

Other financial assets represent lodgement fees that the Group has collected in cash on behalf of the state-based Land
Title Registries. These funds are also shown as a payable in trade and other payables (refer Note 15) and are passed on to
the Land Title Registries within 3 business days of lodgement. The funds are held in separate bank accounts and are not
available for use by the Group.

11. Non-Current Asset - Property, Plant and Equipment

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year

Office and

Furniture computer

and fittings equipment

$°000 $°000

Cost

At 30 June 2020 158 1,645 1,803
Additions 19 479 498
Disposals - (15) (15)
At 30 June 2021 177 2,109 2,286
Other 5 - 5
Additions 17 1,377 1,394
Disposals - (594) (594)
At 30 June 2022 199 2,892 3,091

Depreciation and Impairment

At 30 June 2020 (61) (867) (928)
Depreciation charge for the year (37) (513) (550)
Disposals - 15 15
At 30 June 2021 (98) (1,365) (1,463)
Other (6) - (6)
Depreciation charge for the year (36) (573) (609)
Disposals - 594 594
At 30 June 2022 (140) (1,344) (1,484)

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 79 744 823

At 30 June 2022 59 1,548 1,607
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12. Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets

In-House Customer
Software Software Operational Relation-
Goodwill Assets Assets Procedures ships Licenses
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Cost
At 693,551 438,900 73,090 1,871 397,451 23,660 14959 1,643,482
30 June 2020
Additions - - 22,601 - - - - 22,601
Write off - - (342) - - - - (342)
of intangible
asset
At
30 June 2021 693,551 438,900 95,349 1,871 397,451 23,660 14959 1,665,741
Additions - - 48,626 - - - - 48,626
Write off - - (62) - - - - (62)
intangible asset
At 693,551 438,900 143,913 1,871 397,451 23,660 14,959 1,714,305
30 June 2022
Amortisation and impairment
At - (42,800) (2,964) (913) (38,520) - - (85,197)
30 June 2020
Amortisation - (29,439) (6,748) (624) (26,497) - - (63,308)
Write off - - 23 - - - - 23
intangible asset
At - (72,239) (9,689) (1,537) (65,017) - - (148,482)
30 June 2021
Amortisation - (29,388) (9,685) (334) (26,451) - - (65,858)
Write off - - - - - - - -
intangible asset
At
30 June 2022 - (101,627) (19,374) (1,871) (91,468) - - (214,340
Net book value
At 693,551 366,661 85,660 334 332,434 23,660 14959 1,517,259
30 June 2021
At 693,551 337,273 124,539 - 305,983 23,660 14,959 1,499,965

30 June 2022
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a. Intangible Assets

The Group’s intangible software assets consists of acquired intangibles and capitalised “in-house” software
development costs.

Amortisation and useful life of intangible assets

Where applicable, intangible assets are amortised over the period of expected future benefits (useful life) on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives of the Group’s intangibles assets are set out below:

Goodwill Indefinite life
Intangible software assets and customer relationships 15 year useful life
Operational procedures 3year useful life
PEXA Brand Indefinite life
Licences Indefinite life

As identified in the table above, the PEXA Brand and Licences have been assessed as having indefinite useful lives and are
not amortised. The Group has considered the following factors in making this assessment:

a. PEXA Brand: The Group expects to use this indefinitely and expects any hypothetical acquirer would continue to utilise
the brand.

b. Licences: These represent licences from the e-conveyancing regulator and are critical to the operations of the business.
Accordingly, management intends to continually renew these licences.

International (UK) in-house software is currently not being amortised as the UK platform remains under development and is
not yet operational and generating revenue.

No impairments were identified in the year ended 30 June 2022 other than the write off of certain in-house intangible
assets (2021: nil).

b. Impairment testing

Background

The Group determines whether its intangible assets (including goodwill) are carried above recoverable amount on an

annual basis. For impairment testing purposes the Group identifies its cash generating units (CGUs), which are the smallest
identifiable groups of assets that generate cash flows largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or other groups of
assets.

The Group monitors goodwill at a segment level. Goodwill, Software, Customer Relationships, Brand and Licences have
been allocated to the PEXA Exchange CGU for the purposes of impairment testing. In-house Software assets are allocated
to the appropriate CGU.

30 June 2022 assessment

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group applied a value-in-use (VIU) discounted cash flow methodology to assess the
recoverable amount of the PEXA Exchange and PEXA International. Key inputs and assumptions to the VIU calculation
are outlined below.

PEXA Insights assets primarily include the Group’s investments in associates. These investments are subject to equity
accounting under AASB 128 Investments in Associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is
objective evidence or if there are indicators that an investment in the associate is impaired. At 30 June 2022 no indicators
were identified that an investment in an associate or intangibles are impaired. Refer to Note 23 for further details of the
Investments in Associates.
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Key inputs and assumptions

The table below summarises key assumptions used in the VIU model for the year ended 30 June 2022. Further information on
how these were determined is contained below.

PEXA PEXA

Exchange International

Nominal discount rate (post-tax) 8.21% 12.43%
Terminal growth rate 3% n/a
Terminal EBITDA multiple n/a 15x
Forecast cash flows 5years 5years

Discount rates

The discount rate is calculated based on the Group’s estimated weighted average cost of capital, with reference to the
estimated cost of interest-bearing borrowings and estimated cost of equity which is derived from external sources of
information and the Group’s debt to equity mix. Risk premiums have also been considered for the PEXA International CGU
given the development of the platform.

Forecast cash flows
Forecast cash flows are derived from Board approved profit and cash flow forecasts and do not include restructuring

activities that the Group is not yet committed to or possible future investments.

In developing these forecast cash flows, management has considered and used a range of judgments and assumptions
relating to forecast transaction levels, revenue growth including competitor activity, overhead costs and discount rates.
In addition, the timing of operational activity has been specifically considered in relation to PEXA International.

Furthermore, the Group continues to track lead indicators (state-by-state property listing and sales information plus
PEXA Exchange workspace invitations). This allows management to monitor the drivers of future property transactions
which could impact future revenue and business value.

Price assumptions are based on current regulated prices under the Model Operating Requirements (MOR) as set and
governed by the regulator. Estimated price increases are based on the consumer price index.

A terminal growth rate is applied for PEXA Exchange to the last year of forecast cash flows to derive a terminal value for the
VIU calculation. A terminal EBITDA multiple is applied for PEXA International to the last year of forecast cashflows to derive
terminal value for the VIU calculation.

Growth rate estimates

Rates are based on published government long term economic growth rates and expected industry growth rates.
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Sensitivity considerations

Sensitivities to the key assumptions within the VIU calculations were also tested. The table below sets out the change
in anindividual key assumption that would result in the recoverable amount determined by the VIU assessment being
approximately equal to the carrying value of the PEXA Exchange and PEXA International CGUs.

Change in assumption resulting in recoverable PEXA PEXA
amount being equivalent to carrying value - increase/(decrease) Exchange International
Nominal discount rate (pre-tax) 1.46% 2.67%
Terminal growth rate (1.9%) n/a
Terminal EBITDA multiple n/a (1.1x)
Forecast cash flow input to terminal value calculation (27%) n/a
Forecast EBITDA input to terminal value calculation n/a (7.5%)

30 June 2021 assessment

As at 30 June 2021, a fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) approach was adopted for the Group including PEXA
International. Given the best evidence of an asset’s FVLCD is a price in a binding sale agreement in an arm’s length
transaction, the Group considered the use of the IPO transaction price, in which equity in the Group was purchased

by external market participants, as appropriate for assessing the recoverable amount of the PEXA Exchange CGU.

The Group was listed on the ASX on 1 July 2021 (one day after 30 June 2021) with a market capitalisation of $3.0 billion,
as compared to the carrying value of the PEXA Exchange CGU at 30 June 2021 of $1.5 billion.

13. Leases

Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts pertaining to three office spaces for which right of use assets have been recognised.
The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of leases acquired in a business combination is contained in Note 2(i).

These leases are for office space and have lease terms of 0.5 to 4.5 years.

The Group's obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets and some contracts require maintenance of certain financial ratios.

The Group also has certain leases of office spaces with lease terms of 12 months or less. The Group applies the “short-term
lease” recognition exemptions for these leases.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the current and
prior periods:

Right-of-use

assets

$°000

At1July 2020 10,063
Additions 1,904
Depreciation expense (1,830)
At 30 June 2021 10,137
Additions 101
Lease modification (546)
Depreciation expense (1,842)

At 30 June 2022 7,850
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The following is a reconciliation of the lease liabilities as at 30 June 2022:

Lease

liabilities

$°000

At1July 2020 11,433
Additions 1,904
Accretion of interest 512
Payments made (2,146)
At 30 June 2021 11,703
Additions 101
Lease modification (548)
Accretion of interest 487
Payments made (2,236)
At 30 June 2022 9,507

Below is the allocation of lease liabilities between current and non-current liabilities at 30 June 2022:

2022 2021
$°000 $°000

Lease liabilities
Current lease liabilities 1,882 1,772
Non-current lease liabilities 7,625 9,931
Total 9,507 11,703

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2022 2021
$°000 $°000
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 1,842 1,831
Interest expense on lease liabilities 487 512
Expense relating to short-term leases (temporary office space) 120 276
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 2,449 2,619

The Group has total cash outflows for leases of $2.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: $2.4 million).

One of the Group’s office lease contracts includes an extension option which allows the Group to extend the arrangement at
future market rates upon expiry. This provides the Group flexibility in managing its office space requirements. The extension
option has not been included in the measurement of the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised as it is not
considered reasonably certain it will be exercised. The potential future cashflows if this option was exercised in 2026 are
approximately $12.0 million.
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14. Capital and Financial Risk Management

Financial risk management

In the course of its operations the Group is exposed to certain financial risks that could affect the Group’s financial position
and performance. This note explains the sources of these risks, how they are managed by the Group and exposure at
reporting date. The table below outlines the financial instruments held by the Group:

2022 2021
$°000 $°000

Financial assets/(liabilities) measured at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 75,391 51,517
Trade and other receivables 1,442 2,115
Other financial assets 24141 21,451
Other non-current financial assets 829 250
Interest bearing loans and borrowings - related parties - (192,982)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings (297,989) (297,397)
Trade and other payables (49,499) (49,858)
Total net financial (liabilities)/assets (245,685) (464,904)

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other financial assets, interest bearing loans and
borrowing - related parties and trade and other payables are considered to approximate their carrying amounts due to the

short term-maturities of these instruments. The carrying value of interest-bearing loans and borrowings is also considered
to approximate its fair value given the facilities are subject to varying interest rates, by a Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSY) that is
subject to market fluctuations.

Approach to risk management

The Group takes a balanced approach to risk and seeks the most advantageous position when managing its affairs.
It adopts a controlled and transparent approach and ensures all business is carried on with honesty and integrity and
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Group’s process for the management of risk is by using a risk management framework (RMF) and related policies
to guide management. The overall process for the management of risk is documented in the RMF.

The Chief Risk Officer oversees the operational management of risk in line with the RMF and related policies/guidelines and
reports regularly to the Group’s Audit and Risk Committee.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.

Certain companies within the Group (known as the Obligor Group), entered into a senior unsecured 4-year revolving debt
facility of $335 million documented under a Syndicated Facility Agreement (SFA) on 23 June 2021. The Banking Facilities
are guaranteed by the Obligor Group and the interest on borrowings under the facility is calculated based on a margin of
1.82% over the BBSY which is subject to market fluctuations. A +/- 100 basis point movement in interest rates would impact
interest expense on loans and borrowings on the drawn down debt facility at the end of period by +/- $3.0 million.

The Group holds cash and cash equivalents which earn interest at floating rates (cash at bank) and fixed rates (short term
deposits). A +/- 100 basis point movement in interest rates would impact interest earned on cash held at the end of the
period by +/- $0.8 million (30 June 2021: 25 basis points +/- $0.1 million).
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to
ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount in excess of expected wind-up costs
in the event the Group was to be wound up. An assessment of the expected wind-up costs is made on a monthly basis
to assist Directors with assessing the Group’s solvency.

The table below presents the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual
maturities for all non-derivative financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows. Estimated interest and principal payments are based on forward interest rates prevailing at year end and are
undiscounted. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Maturing In:
Contractual Carrying

Total Amount

$°000 $°000
2022
Financial liabilities 24,141 - - 24,141 24,141
Trade payables, accruals 25,358 - - 25,358 25,358
and other payables
Interest bearing loans 10,281 320,392 - 330,673 297989
and borrowings
Lease liabilities 2,284 8,261 - 10,545 9,507
Total 62,064 328,653 - 390,717 356,995
2021
Financial liabilities 21,451 - - 21,451 21,451
Trade payables, accruals 28,407 - - 28,407 28,407
and other payables
Interest bearing loans and 192,982 - - 192,982 192,982
borrowings - related parties
Interest bearing loans 5118 315,128 - 320,246 297,397
and borrowings
Lease liabilities 2,281 9,901 1,114 13,296 11,703

Total 250,239 325,029 1,114 576,382 551,940
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Credit Risk

Creditrisk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial asset held by the Group fails to meet their financial obligations.

The Group does not consider itself to be subject to significant credit risk as trade receivables due from subscribers are
predominantly collected automatically as a disbursement from settlement funds through transactions completed on the
PEXA Exchange. Receivables from transactions that do not include financial settlement are collected via direct debit on the
day the transaction is completed on the PEXA Exchange.

Investments of surplus funds as cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets are made only with approved
counterparties and within investment limits assigned to each counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration
of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty’s potential failure to make payments. The approved
counterparties comprise of the four major Australian banks which maintain investment grade external credit ratings.

Capital management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to maintain flexibility so as to allow further investment into the PEXA
Exchange platform and pursuit of growth opportunities. The Group currently monitors contributed equity on ordinary
shares and cash and cash equivalents as capital. To fulfill capital management objectives, the Group may issue new shares
or seek other new sources of capital such as loans and borrowings.

The Group believes that it has sufficient cash to fund its operational and working capital requirements to meet its business
objectives. The Directors note that in the future it may need to raise additional funds in order to support more rapid
expansion, respond to competitive pressures, acquire complementary businesses or technologies or take advantage of
unanticipated opportunities.

The Group considers it has the ability to seek to raise further funds through equity or debt financing, joint ventures, licensing
arrangements, strategic relationships or other means.

15. Current Liabilities - Trade and Other Payables

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Financial liabilities (a) 24141 21,451
Trade payables (b) 3,647 4532
Other accruals 18,812 23,469
Superannuation payable 57 31
Other payables 2,842 375
Total 49,499 49,858

a. Financial liability

The Group holds funds as a collection agent of lodgement fees for Land Title Registries. These funds are held in other
financial assets (refer Note 10) and passed on to the Land Title Registries within 3 business days of lodgement.

b. Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day term from month end.

c. Fair value

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
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16. Current Liabilities - Provisions

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Annual leave 4788 3,877
Long service leave 1,947 1,090
Total 6,735 4,967

17. Non-Current Liabilities - Provision

Long service leave 693 592

18. Current Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings -
Related Parties

2022 2021

$:000 $°000

At1July 2021 192,982 -
Return of capital - 949,490
Interest expense - 36,629
Interest paid - (3,663)
Acquisition of ordinary shares from MEP participants - (35,356)
Conversion of shareholder loans - (354,118)
Repayment of shareholder loans (192,982) (400,000)
Total - 192,982

On1July 2021, the remaining outstanding balance of interest-bearing loans - related parties were repaid as part of the IPO
settlement process.

During the year ended 30 June 2021 issued capital was converted to shareholder loans. Prior to 30 June 2021,
$789.5 million of existing shareholder loans were either repaid or converted to ordinary shares in the Group.

The remaining outstanding balance at 30 June 2021 of $193.0 million was repaid on 1 July 2021 from the proceeds of new
equity issued upon IPO.



PEXA Group Limited Annual Report 2022 115

19. Non-Current Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Borrowings - unsecured 300,000 300,000
Deferred borrowing costs! (2,011) (2,603)
Total 297,989 297,397

1. Deferred borrowing costs comprise the unamortised value of borrowing costs paid on establishment or refinance of debt facilities. These

costs are deferred on the Statement of Financial Position and amortised to borrowing costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Certain companies within the Group (known as the Obligor Group), entered into a senior unsecured 4-year revolving debt
facility of $335 million documented under a Syndicated Facility Agreement (SFA) on 23 June 2021. The New Banking
Facilities are guaranteed by the Obligor Group and the interest on borrowings under the facility is calculated based on
amargin of 1.82% over the BBSY.

On 29 June 2021, a $300.0 million initial drawdown from the new banking facilities (less establishment fees), in conjunction
with proceeds from the sale of new Shares under the Offer, was utilised to repay existing shareholder loans and pay
transaction costs in relation to the Offer.

As at 30 June 2022 there were no defaults or breaches of any obligations of the Group under the SFA.

20. Contributed Equity and Reserves

a. Ordinary shares

2022 2021

$°000 $°000
Issued and fully paid 1,268,362 1,058,198
Total 1,268,362 1,058,198

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.
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Movement in ordinary shares on issue No. of shares

At1July 2020 138,007,181 1,618,632
Return of capital - (949,490)
Exercise of MEP Performance shares? 6,037,789 35,356
Conversion of shareholder loans (Note 18) 20,672,382 354,118
Equity issuance costs (net of tax)3 - (418)
At 30 June 2021 164,717,352 1,058,198
Shares issued upon IP0O? 12,531,289 214,661
Share based payments to employees and Directors in connection with [PO?2 77147 -
Equity issuance costs (net of tax)? - (4,497)
As at 30 June 2022 177,325,788 1,268,362

1. Asdetailedin Note 20(b) 6,037,789 MEP Performance shares vested in connection with the IPO and were exercised and converted to ordinary
shares. The value of limited recourse loans associated with the MEP Performance shares that were repaid upon exercise was $35.4 million.

2. Uponlisting onthe ASX on1July 2021, a further 12,608,436 ordinary shares were issued at $17.13 per share to new and existing
shareholders. The Company received proceeds of $214.7 million as a result of the IPO (before repayment of outstanding shareholder loans
of $193.0 million and underwriting & management fees of $20.1 million for IPO Joint Lead Managers).

3. Priortoand post 30 June 2021, certain transaction costs were incurred in connection with the IPO. Amounts relating directly to the issue
of new equity upon conversion of the shareholder loans were recognised as a reduction in equity.

b. Reserves

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Opening balance _ _

Current year movement 175 -
Total 175 -

2022 2021
Share Based Payments Reserve $°000 $°000
Opening balance 7,589 -
Share based payment expense - MEP Performance shares - 6,267
Share based payment expense - LTI Plan related payments 719 -
Share based payment expense - IPO related payments (Refer below) - 1,322
Total 8,308 7,589

Benefits are provided to employees (including the Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Senior Executives) of the Group
in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity/rights over shares.
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On 30 September 2021, the Group’s Board approved PEXA’s Limited Equity Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI Plan) for Senior
Executives. The LTI Plan aims to set and reward a high standard of performance over a three-year vesting period, tied to the
appropriate company performance measures.

On 21 March 2022, the Group’s Board approved the FY22 LTI Plan grant of Performance Rights to eligible employees.
The total fair value of the FY22 LTI Plan grant was $2,105,562.

Key features of the FY22 LTI Planinclude:

Required period of employment: three years from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024

Performance hurdles:

Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR): 25% of the LTI Plan is subject to performance against a relative TSR metric.
Relative TSR combines the security price movement and distributions (which are assumed to be reinvested), to show
the total return to securityholders, relative to that of other companies in the TSR comparator group, which

is the ASX 200 Information Technology Index. The vesting scale is as follows:

Vesting %
Relative TSR of max
Below 50th percentile Nil
At 50th percentile 50%
50-75th percentile Prorata
At 75th percentile or above 100%

Earnings per share (EPS): 75% of the LTI Plan is subject to performance against an EPS metric. EPSis calculated based
on NPATA, which is calculated as statutory net profit after tax and after adding back tax-effected amortisation of acquired
intangible assets. The EPS growth measured as compound annual growth rate (CAGR) over the performance period and
vests on the following scale:

Vesting %
EPS CAGR of max
Lessthan15% Nil
At15% 50%
15-25% Prorata
At 25% or above 100%

Across all aspects of the LTI Plan the Board has full discretion to make adjustments where there would be a material and/or
perverse outcome not to do so. These adjustments may have a positive or negative impact on outcomes.

LTI Plan Valuation

The fair value of performance rights granted under the LTI Plan is estimated at the date of grant using a combined Black
Scholes option pricing model and Monte Carlo simulation option pricing model (TSR rights) taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the performance rights were granted. For grants with non-market vesting conditions (EPS), the
grant date fair value is expensed over the vesting period and adjusted to reflect the actual number of rights for which the
related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met. The grant date fair value of awards with market
performance conditions (TSR) reflects the probability of these conditions being met and hence the expense recognised
over the vesting period is only adjusted for changes in expectations as to whether service criteria will be met. The fair value
of TSR rights has been calculated at $11.63 per share and EPS rights at $16.13 per share.
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Key inputs and assumptions

Weighted average fair values at the measurement date ($) 16.27
Dividend yield (%) 1.00
Expected volatility (%) 25.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.38
Closing share price as at the grant date ($) 16.50
Model used Combined - Black-Scholes option pricing model and Monte

Carlo simulation option pricing model

The movements in the number of LTI Plan Grant of Performance Rights on issue during the year are as follows:

Performance

Rights WAEP
At1July 2021 . -
Granted during the year 167,301 16.27
Forfeited during the year _ _
Expired during the year _ _
Vested and exercised during the year _ _
At 30 June 2022 167,301 -

30 June 2021 - Management Equity Plan (MEP)

In previous years, the Long Term Incentives for PEXA Executives and other identified critical personnel prior to listing was
encapsulated in the Management Equity Plan (MEP). The MEP was completed and closed prior to the ASX Listing Date of
1July 2021 andis no longer in operation.

In addition, during the year ended 30 June 2021 the Group recognised expenses for share based payments relating to the
IPO and ASX listing and the MEP. Although the ASX listing did not occur until post 30 June 2021, the commitment to issue
the shares was completed prior to the end of the reporting period and therefore the cost to the business of issuing shares
for no compensation was recognised.

The purpose of the MEP was to enable eligible employees (participants) to subscribe for MEP Performance sharesin
PEXA Group Limited using a non-recourse interest bearing loan and enabling them to share in the financial growth and
performance of the Group. The invited participants are employees of Property Exchange Australia Limited (PEAL,a100%
owned subsidiary of PEXA Group Limited).

When an offer was made to a Participant, a limited recourse interest bearing loan was entered into to assist the
Participant to acquire the MEP Performance shares. As the recourse on the loan was limited to the underlying MEP
Performance shares, the MEP Performance shares were treated as options for accounting purposes. Accordingly, no loan
receivable, increase in contributed equity or the number of shares on issue were recorded when the MEP Performance
shares were issued.
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On 23 July 2020, the Group approved a grant of 5,830,781 MEP Performance shares (Grant 1). Participants were issued
MEP Performance shares in three classes (Class A, B and C) based on the investment ownership percentage of the
three shareholders of PEXA Group Limited (pre IPO). Each shareholder was associated with a class of MEP Performance
share. The MEP Performance shares did not carry any voting rights or entitle the holder to any dividends or any returns
on areduction of capital or upon winding up of the Company. The MEP rules detailed that plan had a life of 10 years from
1 January 2020 and under the requirements of the MEP rules:

1. Allof the MEP Performance shares issued would be unvested on issue, and vest on a tenure basis in line with the MEP
rules. Unvested MEP Performance shares would only vest, in tranches by reference to the period of service (time)
and Internal Rate of Return (IRR) for each shareholder following that participant’s MEP start date during which the
participant remains continuously employed.

2. Vesting service periods assuming continuous employment were detailed as < 2nd anniversary: (Nil), 2nd anniversary:
(15% of MEP Performance shares will vest), 3rd anniversary: (30%), 4th anniversary: (45%), 5th anniversary: (60%),
6th anniversary: (75%), 7th anniversary: (90%); and 8th anniversary: (100%).

3. Theservice periods were also subject to leaver provisions (good and bad) as detailed in the MEP rules.

On 23 April 2021, the Group approved an additional grant of 897,041 performance shares under this plan (Grant 2)
(this grant included 690,033 shares previously forfeited).

The MEP rules also included details on exit events or MEP liquidity events. A MEP liquidity event meant, in respect
of a shareholder which is the first to occur of: (a) a Share Sale; (b) an Asset Sale; (c) a Listing; and (d) a Shareholder Exit.

If a shareholder exited, the class of a participants MEP Performance shares related to that shareholder would be put up
for sale in line with the sale of the shareholder’s ordinary shares. Other MEP classes would stay on foot. The Board would
assess the tenure served from the MEP start date until the date of the exit eventin order to determine which shares are
“vested” and which shares are “unvested”.

The MEP detailed that for those MEP Performance shares that were vested, the proceeds on this portion would be paid
in full at exit event with those proceeds firstly applied towards repayment of the limited recourse loan. Those that were
unvested could also be sold into an exit event but the proceeds relating to unvested shares and would be split into three
tranches with two of those tranches deferred i.e. 50% of proceeds on unvested shares will be paid at the exit event,
30% of the proceeds will be deferred for 1 year and the remaining 20% will be deferred for 2 years.

However, the Board and Shareholders also had the discretion to determine the method of settlement, whether it be cash
payments or equity settlement. If a listing or IPO event was to occur, unless otherwise determined under the Shareholders’
Deed, each MEP Performance share in each relevant MEP class would put into the share offering in connection with the listing.
The MEP plan would be collapsed and all vesting services periods waived. The Board and Shareholders had the discretion to
determine the method of settlement, whether it be cash payment or equity settlement.

As the MEP contained equity and cash settled alternatives in certain scenarios, the initial and ongoing assessment of
the expected settlement method of the plan required judgement. In making the judgement that the expected settlement
method of the MEP at the grant date and over the life of the plan was via equity, the Group considered the most likely
vesting outcomes under the plan that would apply based on the facts and circumstances that existed over the life

of the plan. As part of the IPO process, MEP shares vested and were converted to Ordinary Shares on 30 June 2021.

The expense recognised in relation to the MEP between issuance and vesting was $6.3 million.
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The movements in the number of MEP Performance shares onissue during the year ended 30 June 2021 were as follows:

Class A Class B Class C
Class A WAEP Class B WAEP Class C WAEP

At1July 2020 - - - - - -

Granted 2,332,312 4.85 2,575,889 4.85 922,580 4.85
July 2020

Forfeited during (276,013) - (304,839) - (109,181) -
the year!

Expired during - - - - - _
the year

Granted 358,816 10.32 396,290 10.32 141,935 10.32
April 2021

Vested and (2,415,115) - (2,667,340) - (955,334) -
exercised during
the year

At 30 June 2021 - - -

1. Following forfeiture, MEP Performance shares were held as treasury shares by the Group. As they were issued and forfeited for nil
consideration, they do not change the value of issued capital.

For Grant 1, the weighted average fair value of MEP Performance shares granted during the period was $0.77 per share.
The exercise price for the MEP Performance shares granted in July 2020 was $4.85 (granted with an exercise price of
$11.73 and reduced by $6.88 to $4.85 due to return of capital to shareholders).

For Grant 2, the weighted average fair value of MEP Performance shares granted during the period was $2.56 per share.
The exercise price for the MEP Performance shares granted in April 2021 was $10.32.

MEP issued MEP issued

July 2020 April 2021
Weighted average fair values at the measurement date ($) 0.77 2.56
Dividend yield (%) 3.00 3.00
Expected volatility (%) 20.00 20.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.89 1.68
Weighted average share price ($) 5.62 12.88
Model used Probability weighted expected

returns methodology

If a shareholder exited, the class of a Participants MEP Performance shares related to that shareholder class would be put
up for sale in line with the sale of the shareholder’s Ordinary Shares. Other MEP classes stayed on foot.

The expected life of MEP Performance shares was assumed for valuation purposes and probability weighted based on the
timing of potential assessed exit event outcomes for Consortium members.
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21. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as profit/(loss) after income tax attributable to owners of the Group, adjusted to
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the weighted average number of shares for potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

2022 2021

$°000 $°000

Profit/(Loss) after income tax attributable to owners of the Group 21,851 (11,787)

WANOS® used in calculation of basic EPS 177,291 138,080
Effects of dilution from:

Performance Rights 46 -

WANOS®@ used in calculation of diluted EPS 177,337 138,080

Basic EPS (cents per share) 12.32 (8.54)

Diluted EPS (cents per share) 12.32 (8.54)

1. Weighted average number of ordinary shares.

2. The WANOS used in the calculation of diluted EPS includes potentially dilutive ordinary shares under the LTI Plan. The WANOS for
the prior period to 30 June 2021 has not been adjusted for the potentially dilutive ordinary shares relating to the MEP as this would have
been anti-dilutive.

22. Related Party Disclosures

a. Key Management Personnel

Compensation for key management personnel (KMP), includes Directors and Executive Committee members remuneration,
superannuation and bonuses recognised as an expense during the reporting period is disclosed in the table below.

KMP are those persons who, directly or indirectly, have authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling
the major activities of the Group. For the year ended 30 June 2022, Executive KMP are deemed to be the Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer.

2022 2021
Executive KMP $°000 $°000
Short-term employee benefits - Executive KMP 3,098 2,515
Share based payments - MEP - 3,458
Share based payments - LTI Plan 387 -
Other long-term benefits 22 1
Post-employment benefits - Superannuation 74 59
Total 3,581 6,033
Non-executive KMP
Short-term employee benefits - Non-executive KMP 1,269 242
Share based payments - Bonus Shares - 700
Share based payments - Matched Shares - 120
Post-employment benefits - Superannuation 56 2
Post-employment benefits - Termination - 85

Total 1,325 1,149
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b. Transactions with related parties

Other than as disclosed below, there were no transactions with KMP and their related parties during the year ended 30 June
2022 (30 June 2021: none). The total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the
relevant financial year are:

Related party - entities with significant influence over the Group

Link Holdings (expenses for share registry management) (207) (7)

CBA Group (revenue) 19,782 16,046

CBA Group (like the three other major Australian financial institutions) is a customer of the Group that utilises the PEXA
Exchange for registering and discharging mortgages over properties on behalf of their customers.

The above transactions were completed on an arm’s length basis and on the same terms as all other financial institutions.

c. Parent entity and relationship with subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the parent entity, PEXA Group Limited, which is domiciled and
incorporated in Australia and all its subsidiaries.

Place of % of equity % of equity

incorporation interest interest
2022 2021

PEXA Group Limited Australia
Torrens Regulated Group Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
PEXA Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
PEXA Technology Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
PEXA Services Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
Property Exchange Australia Ltd Australia 100% 100%
ACN 634 025853 Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
DigCom UK Holdings Ltd UK 100% 100%
Digital Completion UK Ltd UK 100% 100%
PEXA Insights (Holdings) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
PEXA Insights Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
PEXA SettleAssist Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
PX Ventures (Holdings) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

PX Ventures Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%
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23. Investment in Associates

Investments during the year are detailed below:

Landchecker
On 28 February 2022, PEXA Insights acquired a 38% shareholding in Landchecker Holdings Pty Ltd (Landchecker).
Landchecker is a Melbourne-based business that is alighed with PEXA’s purpose of transforming property experiences for

everyone. Landchecker offers its customers a “one-stop source” of information about a property - including characteristics
such as zoning and usage restrictions.

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 30 June 2022.

Elula
On 17 June 2022, PEXA Insights acquired a 26.5% shareholding in Elula Holdings Pty Ltd (Elula).
Elulais a Sydney-based business which enables businesses to make smarter decisions through the intelligent use of data.

Together with PEXA’s data and analytics capabilities, this investment enables a more holistic view of critical lending and
refinancing consumer behaviour, further amplifying PEXA’s capabilities for financial institutions.

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 30 June 2022.

The following table illustrates the summarised aggregated financial information of the Group’s investment in associates:

2022

$°000

PEXA's share of net assets of investment in associates 2,549
Goodwill 27,093
PEXA'’s carrying amount of investment in associates 29,642
PEXA’s share of Net (Loss) after tax (162)
PEXA’s share of Net (Loss) after tax and total comprehensive income (162)

24. Events After Balance Sheet Date

Acquisition of Slate Analytics Pty Ltd

InJuly 2022, the PEXA Group subsidiary, PEXA Insights, paid FrontierS| $7.0 million to acquire a 70% ownership in a newly
created entity - Slate Analytics Pty Ltd (Slate Analytics). The investment allows PEXA to partner with the University of NSW
and FrontierSlin providing valuation and dynamic scenario modelling.

Slate Analytics had not traded or operated prior to this investment however it held the intellectual property rights to arange
of Automated Valuations Models valued at $10.0 million. No other assets or liabilities within Slate Analytics have been
acquired as part of the transaction. The accounting treatment for the investment is ongoing at the date of the financial
statements and additional disclosure will be provided during the year ending 30 June 2023.
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Proposed acquisition of I.D. Consulting Pty Ltd and I.D. (informed decisions) Pty Ltd
(collectively, ID)

On 26 August 2022, the Group announced its subsidiary, PEXA Insights, has entered into an agreement to acquire 100% of
leading Australian grown demographic based consulting group, ID for an initial payment of $20 million.

ID is a land information business that provides demographic and economic data and forecasts at the micro-geographic
level to over 300 local councils across Australia and New Zealand. ID comprises a team of skilled demographic and spatial
analysts, population forecasters, urban economists, industry sector experts, and technology and data management
specialists. Further details in relation to the proposed acquisition are included in the Group’s ASX release regarding ID.

The proposed acquisition of ID will be funded from PEXA’s existing cash reserves and is subject to customary transaction

conditions and approvals. The Group anticipates completion of the proposed acquisition by 30 September 2022, which

is after the authorised date of issue of the Group’s 30 June 2022 financial statements. As a result, details of any final

consideration paid and details of the final fair value of any major classes of assets, liabilities and associated goodwill that

may be acquired are not yet finalised.

No other event or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2022 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:
The Group’s operations in future financial years;

The results of those operations in future financial years; or

The Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

25. Commitments and Contingencies

Capital commitments
The Group had no quantifiable capital commitments at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: nil).

Residential guarantee

The wholly owned subsidiary, Property Exchange Australia Limited, offers the PEXA Residential Seller Guarantee (PRSG) to
provide protection to residential sellers in the event of certain kinds of fraud. Where the PRSG applies, the vendor (seller) has
the option to make a claim against PEXA, rather than seeking to recover the loss by an alternative means.

The Group’s obligations are held by Property Exchange Australia Limited and are capped at $2 million per claim.
No amounts relating to the PRSG have been provided for in the 30 June 2022 financial report.

Contingent liabilities

The Group is subject to a number of contractual obligations in agreements which, if not discharged or considered not to be
discharged, may give rise to potential claims or other costs. These agreements exist to allow the Group to perform its day to
day operations and monitor its various regulatory obligations appropriately.

Those obligations are included in a number of operating, participation, performance, trading and settlement agreements
with various government bodies, financial institutions, state registrars, practitioners and regulators (such as ARNECC),

in both Australia and the United Kingdom, with varying levels of potential liability. The Group is not aware of any actual or
alleged non-performance of any obligations as at 30 June 2022.

As at 30 June 2022 there are no contingent liabilities (2021: nil).
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26. Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year payments were made to our auditors for services in addition to the annual audit of the financial accounts of
the Group. The following is detail of audit and other services:

2022 2021
Ernst & Young $°000 $°000
Audit and assurance services
Category 1 - Group and statutory audit fees 350,000 463,510
Category 2 - Other assurance services - 152,000
Category 3 - Other services 245,500 1,255,000
Total auditor remuneration 595,500 1,870,510

Category 1 - Fees to the Group auditor for: (i) auditing the statutory financial report of the parent covering the group; (ii) review
of the half year financial report of the parent covering the group; and (iii) auditing the statutory financial reports of any controlled
entities. In the year ended 30 June 2021, fees also included historical audits performed as part of the IPO process.

Category 2 - Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services under other legislation or contractual
arrangements where there is discretion as to whether the service is provided by the auditor or another firm.

Category 3 - Fees paid or payable for other services. In the year ended 30 June 2021 services primarily related to the
significant level of transaction activity associated with the PEXA Group IPO.

Ernst & Young has provided an auditor’s independence declaration to the Directors of the PEXA Group confirming that the
provision of the other services has not impaired their independence as auditors.

27. Information Relating to PEXA Group Limited (The Parent)

2022 2021
Ernst & Young $°000 $°000
Current assets 8,518 2,427
Total assets 1,761,136 1,748,940
Current liabilities - (198,550)
Total liabilities (528,184) (715,079)
Issued share capital (1,268,362) (1,058,198)
Equity reserves (8,308) (7,589)
Retained earnings 43,718 31,926
(Loss) of the parent entity (11,792) (31,096)
Total comprehensive (loss) of the parent entity (11,792) (31,096)

The Parent had no commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021: nil).
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of PEXA Group Limited, | state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

(@) The financial statements and associated notes set out on pages 80 to 125 are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)  Giving atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance
for the year then ended; and
(i)  Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and
(iii) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed
in Note 2(a); and
(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable.

(c) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors by the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

On behalf of the board

Mark Joiner
Chairman

26 August 2022
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Ernst & Young Tel: +61 3 9288 8000
8 Exhibition Street Fax: +61 3 8650 7777
Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia ey.com/au

GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001

Building a better
working world

Independent auditor's report to the members of PEXA Group Limited
Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of PEXA Group Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at
30 June 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’
declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June
2022 and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying financial report.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

> Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

> Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

> Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

> Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

> Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Shareholder information

The following additional information is provided in accordance with ASX Listing Rules. The shareholder information set out
below was applicable as at 18 August 2022.

Distribution of equity securities

Analysis of the number of equity security holders by size of holding and the total percentage of securities in that class held
by the holders in each category:

Ordinary shares

Number of equity securities held No. of holders  No. of shares % of shares
1-1,000 5,505 2,046,385 1.15
1,001-5,000 1,626 3,330,874 1.88
5,001-10,000 127 928,832 0.52
10,001 -100,000 70 1,737,694 0.98
100,001 and over 34 169,282,003 95.46
Total 7,362 177,325,788 100.00

There were zero holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.
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Equity security holders
The names of the 20 largest holders of the only class of quoted equity securities are listed below:
Ordinary shares

% of issued

Name No. held shares
Link Property Pty Ltd 75,834,006 4277
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 42,380,864 23.90
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 11,749,856 6.63
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 10,803,216 6.09
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 5,627,616 3.17
National Nominees Limited 4,785,876 2.70
Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited 2,918,856 1.65
Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd 2,540,020 1.43
Mutual Trust Pty Ltd 1,251,326 0.71
Glenn Lee King 1,155,637 0.65
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd 985,045 0.56
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 750,000 0.42
Mirrabooka Investments Limited 745,662 042
Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 732,974 0.41
Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd 619,292 0.35
Richard Gillen Moore 577,818 0.33
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd 564,690 0.32
Brispot Nominees Pty Ltd 560,668 0.32
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 495,788 0.28
Lisa Maree Dowie 486,145 0.27
Total Top 20 holders 165,565,355 93.37
Total remaining holders 11,760,433 6.63
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Substantial holders

Substantial holders (including associate holdings) in the Company, based on the most recent substantial holder notices
lodged with the Company and ASX, are set out below:

Ordinary shares

% of issued

Name No. held shares
Link Administration Holdings Limited 79,184,961 44,66
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 48,362,255 27.27

Restricted securities
The number of shares under voluntary escrow: 3,350,837 ordinary shares.

The restriction on these shares will be lifted as follows:

3,269,494 fully paid ordinary shares will be released from voluntary escrow on 26 August 2022, when the Company
announces its FY22 results.

64,709 fully paid ordinary shares will be released from voluntary escrow on 29 August 2022, upon the opening of the
trading window following the release of the Company’s FY22 results.

1,475 shares have been released from voluntary escrow under the terms of the Employee Gift Offer and 291 shares have
been released from voluntary escrow under the terms of the Employee and Director Offer

Following the FY22 results, 14,868 will remain in escrow under the terms of the Employee Gift Offer.

Share buy-backs

The Company is not currently conducting an on-market share buy-back.
Voting rights

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote. Upon a poll, each share
shall have one vote.
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CORPORATE DIRECTORY

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 10.00am (AEDT) on Friday, 18 November 2022.

Company Secretary
Andrew Metcalfe (appointed 13 September 2021)
Naomi Dawson (appointed 24 February 2022)

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business

Tower Four Collins Square
Level 16,727 Collins Street
Docklands VIC 3008

Telephone: +61 37002 4500

Corporate Governance Statement

The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement is available at the Company’s Investor Centre at
https://investors.pexa.com.au.

Share Registry

Link Market Services

Post: Locked Bag A14, Sydney South NSW 1235 Australia
Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

Telephone: 1300 554 474

Website: www.linkmarketservices.com.au

Auditor

Ernst & Young
8 Exhibition Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Securities Exchange Listing

The Company’s securities are listed on the ASX as PXA. The Company’s securities are not listed on any other
stock exchanges.

Website

WWWw.pexa.com.au






From: Casey Cossu

Sent: Monday, 27 March 2023 8:56 AM

To: Casey Cossu

Subject: FW: Hi, important update on e-conveyancing mandate!

Casey Cossu
Legal and Policy Officer

VREIQ =

AREAL STEP AHEAD

Please consider the environment before printing a m a

From: The REIQ

Sent: Friday, January 20, 2023 9:31 AM

To:

Subject: Hi , important update on e-conveyancing mandate!

EXTERNAL SENDER: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content can be trusted.

Everything you need to know about the changes to the current Electronic Settlement clauses














